

When workers unionize

Trade union effects on management-worker conflict and attitudes towards immediate interests versus broader political agendas

Josef Ringqvist

Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences

Working Life Science

DOCTORAL THESIS | Karlstad University Studies | 2024:1



Trade union effects on management-worker conflict and attitudes towards immediate interests versus broader political agendas

Josef Ringqvist

When workers unionize - Trade union effects on management-worker conflict and
attitudes towards immediate interests versus broader political agendas

Josef Ringqvist

DOCTORAL THESIS

Karlstad University Studies | 2024:1

urn:nbn:se:kau:diva-97731

ISSN 1403-8099

ISBN 978-91-7867-424-4 (print)

ISBN 978-91-7867-425-1 (pdf)

© The author

Distribution:

Karlstad University Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences Karlstad Business School SE-651 88 Karlstad, Sweden +46 54 700 10 00

Print: Universitetstryckeriet, Karlstad 2024



Contents

LIST OF ORIGINAL RESEARCH PAPERS	Ι
ABSTRACT I	Ι
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSII	[]
INTRODUCTION	1
AIM, RESEARCH PAPERS, AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS	4
2 UNIONS AND THEIR MEMBERS	7
Conflict in the employment relationship: a structured antagonism Collective action	945 27 253
effect	
ANALYTICAL APPROACH AND DATA	51 4
SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH PAPERS60	o
Paper I: How do union membership, union density and institutionalization affect perceptions of conflict between management and workers?	3
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ABOVE GROWTH AND JOBS: A MULTI-LEVEL ANALYSIS COVERING 22 EUROPEAN COUNTRIES	2

R	EFERENCES	. 71
	IMPLICATIONS, LIMITATIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	66
5	DISCUSSION	64
	FOR GOVERNMENT SPENDING ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION	63
	PAPER IV: A WORLD SYSTEMS ANALYSIS OF UNION MEMBERSHIP AND SUPPOR	ťΤ

List of original research papers

- I. Ringqvist J (2021) How do union membership, union density and institutionalization affect perceptions of conflict between management and workers? *European Journal of Industrial Relations*, 27 (2), 131-148.
- II. Ringqvist J (2023) Integrating collective voice within job demands-resources theory. (*Manuscript*, revised draft returned for minor corrections by an international journal).
- III. Ringqvist J (2022) Union membership and the willingness to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 60 (3), 662-682.
- IV. Ringqvist J (in press) A world systems analysis of union membership and support for government spending on environmental protection. *Journal of Industrial Relations*.

Abstract

Taking its point of departure in the questions of why workers unionize and what happens when they do, this dissertation studies trade union effects on public perceptions and attitudes through the lens of two overarching themes: conflict between management and workers, and tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. These themes are explored empirically through four research papers, studying (1) how union membership, union density, and institutionalization affect perceptions of conflict between management and workers; (2) the impact of trade unions at the workplace level as antecedents of job demands, job autonomy, job control, and training; (3) how union membership and collective bargaining coverage relate to workers' willingness to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs, and; (4) whether and if so how the association between union membership and support for government spending on environmental protection varies internationally based on the level of economic development and environmental performance. Each study draws on extant data from largescale cross-national attitudinal surveys, using multi-level analysis (MLA) to study union effects at several analytical levels. While the studies are cross-sectional, limiting the ability to make strong causal claims, the empirical results indicate that trade unions ameliorate perceptions of management-worker conflict; augment perceptions of job autonomy and control, particularly where demands are high; and transcend immediate sectional interests in favour of broader long-term agendas related to environmental protection. The present overview locates the empirical studies in a broader theoretical context pertaining to the two overarching themes and elaborates on the causal mechanisms underpinning the research hypotheses.

Acknowledgements

Throughout this intellectual project many generous individuals have offered me their invaluable guidance. First of all, I am profoundly grateful to Robert MacKenzie for the generosity of time and insight and for the patience to offset my unrelenting tendency to overthink ('just write it down!'). Many thanks also to Danat Valizade whose sharp observations concerning strengths and weaknesses of numerous drafts have been tremendously helpful. Writing a thesis by publication means being confronted at an early stage with the realities of the review process. Through these experiences both Robert and Danat have tirelessly extended their support, helping to improve the individual research papers and my research skills in general; I could not have asked for better supervisors. I am also grateful to the journal editors and anonymous reviewers whose expertise doubtless have made this a better dissertation. Thank you as well to Henrietta Huzell who served very supportively as second supervisor in the beginning of this process.

Graciously Bengt Furåker acted as opponent during the final seminar. I want to express my gratitude to Bengt for the close and attentive reading of my work, which spurred me to add further nuance to key sections of this overview. At an earlier stage Daniel Larsson gave feedback on drafts of Papers I and II and, even more importantly, was a huge inspiration in my decision to pursue a PhD in the first place. On a draft of Paper I, I received valuable feedback at the ILERA European Congress in Düsseldorf, where special thanks are due to Patrick Nüß. Hanne Berthelsen and Kristoffer Holm gave comprehensive comments on a very early draft of Paper II, and David Regin Öborn extended some useful insights in the course of the development of Paper III. I am also grateful to Ingemar Johansson Sevä for the opportunity to discuss an outline of what eventually became Paper IV.

1 Introduction

Why do workers unionize and what happens when they do? This dissertation builds on a long line of research informed by these questions by studying union effects on attitudes and perceptions across a range of issues, asking whether union members hold attitudes and policy preferences that differ from their non-organized counterparts (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Kim and Margalit, 2017); whether workers' perceptions vary between unionized and non-unionized workplaces (Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013; Green et al., 2022); and across institutional settings where unionization and collective bargaining is more or less prevalent (Esser and Olsen, 2012; Hipp and Givan, 2015; Wright, 1985). A point of departure is thus that the study of perceptions and attitudes can provide indicators that are meaningful in relation to debates about 'what unions do' (Freeman and Medoff, 1984). This question is indeed one of longstanding interest, but it remains pertinent due to 'an essential plasticity to trade unionism' (Hampton, 2015: 33), fraught with inherent contradictions, or tensions (Hyman, 2001; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980). Two overarching themes subject to such tensions constitute the lens through which the present dissertation – across four research papers – analyses trade unions: conflict between management and workers; and immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. The purpose of this overview is to locate the four papers within the broader theoretical context of the two themes. provide a review of the literature, and elaborate upon the causal mechanisms underpinning the research hypotheses.

With regards to the first overarching theme, relations between workers and management are situated in a complex interplay between cooperation and conflict in the employment relationship (Edwards, 1986; Hyman, 1989b; Wright, 2000). In this connection there is a persistent ambiguity regarding union effects on workers' perceptions and attitudes concerning class and employment relations (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Hyman, 1989b; Svallfors, 2006; Wright, 1985) – in relation to which the present dissertation examines perceptions of conflict between management and workers, an understudied issue as it pertains to union effects. In the wider literature trade unions have been

argued on the one hand to constitute important mediating mechanisms in workers' development of 'anti-capitalist class consciousness' (Wright, 1985, 1997), fostering what Svallfors refers to as 'partisan attitudes' among the workforce (Svallfors, 2006: 34). This dovetails with an argument advanced by some scholars as explanation to the widely established negative association between union membership and job satisfaction (Freeman and Medoff, 1984) – although, importantly, it is questionable whether such an association reflects a causal effect (Bessa et al., 2021; Laroche, 2016; Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990) and the picture is more complex when considering findings beyond the most commonly examined cases of the US and UK (Donegani and McKay, 2012; Goerke and Huang, 2022; Hipp and Givan, 2015).

Conversely, in part by altering the social relations at the workplace and augmenting workers' autonomy and influence over organizational activities, as well as through the pursuance of various policies oriented towards the de-commodification of labour (Edlund and Lindh, 2015; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Esping-Andersen, 1990; Korpi, 2019), trade unions may contribute to the amelioration of perceptions of management-worker conflict. This last point relates to the second focal theme and the question of whether the interests that unions channel or even partake in defining are conceived in immediate sectional or broader political terms. Such tensions are of longstanding interest in the industrial relations literature and beyond but have gained prominence more recently in debates about the relationship between trade unions and the environment (Flanagan and Goods, 2022; Obach, 2004; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Snell and Fairbrother, 2010: 420; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020). Contributing to these ongoing debates, the present dissertation offers a comparative analysis of the association between union membership and support for environmental protection, explicating a number of mechanisms that may underpin such an association, notably including considerations of immediate self-interest versus broader societal interests.

Samuel Gompers, then president of the American Federation of Labor (AFL), when asked in the 1880s about the objectives of the AFL famously responded simply: 'more' (Hyman, 2001: 13). Although that answer may reflect a specific type of American 'business unionism', it could also be emblematic of what some construe as a broader 'productivist' tendency within organized labour to pursue redistributive issues

propelled by economic growth and full employment at the expense of other concerns, notably including those relating to environmental degradation (Gould et al., 2004; Obach, 2004; Offe, 1985a; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Schnaiberg and Gould, 1994; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020; Tomassetti, 2020). While a growing literature attends to such questions, little is known about union members' attitudes towards environmental agendas, particularly from a quantitative perspective based on nationally representative samples (Chen, 2017; Kojola et al., 2014; and Vachon and Brecher, 2016 are rare exceptions based exclusively on US data). Extending the scope of analysis to cover a broad international context, the present dissertation contributes towards addressing this gap by examining union members' support for environmental protection.

Analysing 'trade union effects' across the themes outlined above, this dissertation highlights the value in considering methodologically the 'textured' phenomenon of collective organization (Streeck, 2016a: 208). It should be noted that the term 'union effect' is used throughout this overview in reference to a statistical association without implying a direct causal impact. In this respect however, aside from comparing the views of union members with their non-organized counterparts, and in order more expediently to capture some of the collective benefits of unions (Doucouliagos et al., 2018: 290; Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013), it is also useful to compare workers across organizations which differ in the degree of union influence, and across countries varying in levels of unionization and strength of industrial relations institutions. Interest thereby lies in probabilistic regularities (Goldthorpe, 2016: 8; Svallfors, 2006: 22; Swedberg, 2014: 117), i.e., systematic but not deterministic differences between union members and non-members. workplaces with and without significant union influence, and countries with varying rates of unionization and strength of industrial relations institutions.

Aim, research papers, and outline of the thesis

The present thesis takes its point of departure in the question of what happens when workers unionize. This in turn is an inquiry that should not be separated from why workers unionize in the first place. Informed by these longstanding questions, the dissertation studies trade union effects on perceptions and attitudes through the lens of two overarching themes: conflict between management and workers (Papers I and II); and tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas (Papers III and IV). The themes are explored empirically across four research papers.

Through a multi-level framework, Paper I asks how perceptions of conflict between management and workers relate to trade union membership, country-level union density, and the institutionalization of employment relations, the latter measured through collective bargaining coverage, collective bargaining centralization, and policy concertation. Two opposing hypotheses are put to empirical testing: one suggests that unions increase conflict perceptions whereas the other posits an inverse pattern.

Paper II shifts the level of analysis to look into what unions do at the workplace level, specifically by examining the impact of trade union influence at work on the prevalence of job demands, employee autonomy, control, and training. As an interdisciplinary contribution, the paper highlights the value in acknowledging the significance of collective voice mechanisms, such as union influence, within the widely influential job demands-resources (JD-R) theory (Demerouti et al., 2001). The premise of the paper is that key conditions at work construed within JD-R theory respectively as job demands and job resources (such as employee autonomy) are subject of contested terrain concerning the social relations at work and control over the labour process (Edwards, 1979). Unionization is argued to offer a means for workers collectively to alter such social relations and thereby in turn reduce job demands and augment job resources. An empirical analysis is offered to substantiate the theoretical argument, examining the effects of trade union influence at the workplace level on employee perceptions of job demands, job resources, and the covariation of demands and resources.

Turning to the second overarching theme, Papers III and IV examine a set of questions pertaining to tensions between immediate

sectional interests versus broader political agendas by studying union members' support for environmental protection – in relation to which there is a striking shortage of empirical research based on the analysis of nationally representative samples. Contributing towards addressing this research gap, Paper III focuses on the European context and analyses how trade union membership and country-level collective bargaining coverage relate to workers' willingness to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs. The paper develops and evaluates empirically the argument that union members will tend to be more likely than non-members to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs. This positive 'membership effect' is hypothesized to be mediated by ideological orientation. Underpinned by some of the insights relating to the first overarching theme, it is further argued that in countries with stronger unions and industrial relations institutions – proxied by trade union density and collective bargaining coverage – support for environmental protection will be higher among members and non-members alike.

Lastly, Paper IV builds on Paper III by extending the geographical scope beyond Europe and the economically more developed contexts covered in previous research, asking whether and if so how the association between union membership and support for government spending on environmental protection varies internationally based on macro-economic conditions and the distribution of environmental burdens. The baseline expectation reflected in a first hypothesis is for the positive membership effect to hold beyond the more affluent countries. However, a second hypothesis is also offered which proposes that beyond the advanced economies, higher levels of environmental degradation and stronger public support for environmental spending among members and non-members alike might imply less of a distinction between members and non-members.

In the concluding discussion, part of the contribution of this thesis is to look at the implications of the findings when taken together, advancing the argument that contemporary challenges posed to workers and unions in the ongoing climate crisis cannot be detached from fundamental questions of what unions do, be it within the context of conflict between management and workers or in the pursuance of various policies oriented towards the de-commodification of labour. In light of the empirical results of the research papers, the concluding

discussion considers the possibilities for the transformational capacity embodied in workers' collective action to be mobilized along conflicts over the implementation of more ambitious environmental agendas.

The remainder of this overview is organized as follows. The next chapter reviews the literature, first by considering some basic constituting features of trade unions, laying out the broad conceptual underpinnings that more or less implicitly inform the four empirical studies. Then follows a review of scholarly debates and empirical research concerning unions' impacts on perceptions and attitudes through the lens of the two overarching themes, guided by the research questions addressed in the four papers. Framed within a broader theoretical context, this outline sets out the logic and explicates upon the causal mechanisms of the research hypotheses. In this respect, although not always addressed explicitly in the papers, the research is informed by a number of reoccurring topics, including the issue of free-riding in the provision of collective goods, the distinction between selection and transformative mechanisms with regards to union effects, and workers' pursuit of interests in the industrial sphere versus the political sphere. Chapter 3 then lays out the analytical strategy as well as the data and methods used in the empirical studies. The results of the empirical research papers are summarized subsequently (Chapter 4), after which the findings are taken together in a concluding discussion (Chapter 5) that considers implications, limitations, and directions for future research.

2 Unions and their members

While any more specific answer to the question of what trade unions do is likely to vary across contexts, relating in turn to such factors as membership composition, organizational structure and political identity (Cebolla-Boado and Ortiz, 2014; Ebbinghaus, 1995; Hyman, 1994a, 2001; Ibsen and Thelen, 2017; Jansson, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2022; Oude Nijhuis, 2009; Streeck, 2005: 269; Visser et al., 2009), it is nevertheless useful to begin with a brief conceptual discussion about some constituting features of a union. Even where less explicitly oppositional or more narrowly focused on sectional interests, unions are ultimately predicated on some shape of commonality of interest among a group of wage-earners in antagonism to their employer(s) (Banks and Metzgar, 2005: 30; Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman, 2015: 1; Hyman, 2001; Kelly, 1998; Nilsson, 1985: 70–1; Palm, 2017: 15; Wright, 1985, 2000). The section below offers a brief outline of these issues.

Conflict in the employment relationship: a structured antagonism

From an economic standpoint, a trade union represents the interests of one of the parties of the employment contract, and 'as with all market relationships, the interests of buyers and sellers are antagonistic' (Hyman, 1989b: 20). Trade unions therefore cannot ignore markets and are in some sense always at least economic actors (Hyman, 2001: 3). Beyond the sphere of exchange, the peculiarities inherent to the employment contract also introduce a broad set of tensions within the sphere of production pertaining to the right of the employer to manage the employees (Edwards, 1986), that is, relating to the question of 'what goes on inside of firms once workers are hired and capital invested' (Wright, 2000: 963). As is widely acknowledged, labour power is not like any other commodity, and in terms of vital importance to both parties the employment contract is open-ended, or indeterminate (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 37; Fox, 1969; Hyman, 1989b: 20; Kaufman, 2008:

311; Korpi, 2019: 16; Marx, 1990; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 70; Polanyi, 2001; Streeck, 2005: 261–2; Turnbull, 1988). From this follows a tension between employers' interest to control the organization of work and wage-earners' efforts to preserve or extend a range of conditions that are not necessarily compatible with the prerogatives of management (Dukes and Streeck, 2023: 3; Fox, 1969: 394; Hyman, 1989b; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 73). This is a central insight particularly with regards to the first overarching theme, explored variously in Papers I and II.

Moreover, an important premise in this context is that any business, in the face of competition and the need to secure investment funds, needs to remain profitable (Edwards, 1986: 321). The two parties of the employment contract are thus subject to the constraints of the accumulation process, resulting in what Edwards refers to as a 'structured antagonism', meaning 'basic contradictions or divisions that may not be reflected in overt disputes' (Edwards, 1986: 17), wherein 'each side depends on the other while also having diverging wants' (Edwards, 1986: 77). On this basis, trade unions function as 'intermediary' or 'secondary' organizations, conditioned in turn upon the existence and prosperity of a primary employing organization (Hyman, 2007; Müller-Jentsch, 1985). Such an interdependence offers conditions for various forms of 'mutual gains' or positive sum conflicts in the extent to which there are joint interests between workers and management in the survival of the firm and the reproduction of the employment relationship across time (Bélanger and Edwards, 2007; Edwards, 1986; Edwards et al., 2006; Fox, 1969; Hyman, 1997: 325; Kjellberg, 1983: 8-9; Korpi, 2006: 177; Müller-Jentsch, 1985: 12; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 75; Przeworski and Wallerstein, 1982; Wright, 2000). Tensions addressed throughout the four research papers, not least in Papers III and IV concerning the relationship between trade unions and the environment, may be understood partly through the lens of such an interdependence, whereby workers and management can form

¹ While the situation differs slightly within (particularly non-profit) public sector organizations, there remains an imperative under such contexts to yield balanced budgets, and due to the indeterminate nature of the employment contract similar tensions exist pertaining to control over the labour process, for example as arguably reflected in the proliferation of New Public Management (Furåker, 2005: 26, 68; Therborn, 2018: 144–50).

'productivist' coalitions over perceived shared interests, for example in opposition to environmental regulations (Hampton, 2015: 76; Offe, 1985a; Satheesh, 2021; Schnaiberg and Gould, 1994; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020: 394; Thomas and Pulignano, 2021). As Postone notes: 'because labor is determined as a necessary means of individual reproduction in capitalist society, wage laborers remain dependent on capital's "growth," even when the consequences of their labor, ecological and otherwise, are detrimental to themselves and to others' (Postone, 1993: 313).

Collective action

From the above follows that wage-earners, as sellers of labour power, share certain characteristics in a structured antagonism to employers. However, and crucially, on a capitalist labour market each individual wage-earner offers his or her labour power under conditions of competition with others who do the same, meaning that workers are also 'atomized and divided by competition' (Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 74). In this context, by coordinating collectively agreed claims concerning wages and wider working conditions, collective organization functions to alter a scenario wherein each individual has an interest in underbidding the other and hence reduces competition between workers (Hyman, 1989b: 25, 38; Lindberg, 2013: 97; Müller-Jentsch, 1985). Moreover, collective organization serves to coordinate the various sanctions imposed on employers if wage-earners' claims are not met to a sufficient extent (Crouch, 1982: 75; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 79). Ultimately underpinned by members' willingness to act (Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980), union organization may hence be seen as a form of power resource of wage-earners vis-à-vis employers, meaning 'characteristics which provide actors – individuals or collectivities – with the ability to punish or reward other actors' (Korpi, 2019: 15).2 Korpi

² This is not to suggest that unionization is the only relevant factor to understand the balance of power between wage-earners and employers. Among other things such a balance is also shaped by the strength of employers' associations (Furåker, 2005: 86; Kjellberg, 1983; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980; Refslund and Arnholtz, 2022); and while unions remain a dominant

submits: 'In a capitalist democracy the major power resources of the wage-earners are their organizations for collective action. Through these organizations the individually small power resources of the wage-earners can be combined and their significance increased' (Korpi, 2019: 26). Particularly in lack of individual bargaining power, such as possession of scarce skills or a structurally advantageous position in the production process (Furåker and Berglund, 2003; Silver, 2003; Wright, 2000), most wage-earners as individuals 'can exert little meaningful control over their work environment; only by submitting to collective principles can they share in more significant influence over the conditions of their working lives' (Hyman, 1989b: 39–40).

However, seen through the perspective of an individual wageearner, unionization can still be subject of a tension between what one may construe as individualistic and collectivistic rationality, an issue that resonates particularly with the second overarching theme of this dissertation, as explored in Papers III and IV. Olson's seminal The Logic of Collective Action (1971) serves as a useful starting point in order to arrive at a more comprehensive understanding of some of the tensions in the collective logic of unionism. It may be noted at the outset that Olson's basic premises are widely contested (Boudon, 2003: 10; Goldthorpe, 1967; Kelly, 1998; Kim and Bearman, 1997; Mansbridge, 1990; Palm, 2017: 39; Streeck, 2004: 427; Udéhn, 1993). However, as argued by Udéhn, while many consider it refuted as an explanatory theory, 'Conceived as a heuristic device, it is one of the most fertile suggestions in the history of social science' (Udéhn, 1993: 256). The basic premise underlying Olson's (1971: 21) argument is that human behaviour can be understood as an outcome of a rational self-interest calculation of the costs and benefits of alternative courses of action. Such a cost-benefit analysis, Olson submits, often implies for the individual that it appears irrational to cooperate with others in the

_

form there are other and less formal channels of worker collectivism. In addition is the issue of whether unions invariably do pursue their members' interests, which raises questions about the role of leadership and the extent to which interests other than those of the membership inform union policies, as e.g., in the case of more encompassing unions, who may take into consideration broader societal dynamics (Furåker, 2005: 88–89). Yellow unions are examples of a form of unionism in which members' interest are subordinate to those of the employers.

provision of a collective good, i.e., a good that is not exclusive to those who cooperate (Olson, 1971: 15). The problem can be formulated as follows:

If it is assumed that a group forms to provide, or to lobby for the provision of, a good that is collective to potential members, then the major conceptual problem to the formation of such a group is that individuals can enjoy the benefits of group action without incurring the costs. (Booth, 1985: 253)

In Olson's exposition trade unions are primary examples of this logic, as the goods which unions provide, such as wages and regulation of working time, tend to extend to non-members as well (Ebbinghaus et al., 2011: 109; Olson, 1971: 67). The result is a collective action problem, or 'social dilemma', which can be defined as 'a situation in which individuals' self-interested behaviours lead to collectively suboptimal outcomes' (Simpson and Willer, 2015: 44; see also Kollock, 1998; Elster, 1989: 126). This problem is argued further to be more extensive the larger the group (cf. Kelly, 1998: 78), and Olson posits that large groups solve the collective action problem either by stipulating cooperation (i.e. membership) to be compulsive, or by providing private goods and services only to those who cooperate (Olson, 1971: 2, 68), 'with ancillary provision of the collective good as a "byproduct" (Booth, 1985: 253). Beyond compulsory membership, selective incentives may hence provide a rational explanation for participation in collective action which remains consistent with Olson's basic premises (Ebbinghaus et al., 2011; Rothstein, 2001: 222).

However, as noted above, the theory has been subject to extensive critique, in terms both of its internal logic and the underlying assumption about individuals being guided primarily by rational self-interest, or, notably, a lack of sensitivity with regard to the social processes in which interests are defined – and hence the meaning and determination of the 'costs' and 'benefits' of cooperation (Blyth, 2003; Bunge, 1996: 359–387; Casey et al., 2021; Kelly, 1998; Klandermans, 1984: 120; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 96; Rothstein, 1998: 290; Sen, 1977; Streeck, 2004: 427; Turnbull, 1988). As Jackson and Muellenborn note, the idea of action as rooted exclusively in economic self-interest ultimately presents an 'undersocialized' view, in which 'actors' interests are defined too abstractly, apart from the social context that shapes their identities and perceptions' (Jackson and

Muellenborn, 2012: 473, 478; also see Granovetter, 1985). On the same note Kelly suggests: 'Rather than assign theoretical privilege to individualism and treat departures from it as theoretically deviant we should treat individual and social actions as different forms of behaviour that emerge under different conditions' (Kelly, 1998: 72). In this regard, beyond or at least as complement to rational choice-oriented explanations, a range of sociological perspectives highlight the importance for cooperation of such factors as ideological considerations, norms, values, social/collective identity, and social capital (Carstensen et al., 2022; Ebbinghaus et al., 2011: 109; Fiorito, 1992; Kelly, 1998; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Palm, 2017; Polletta and Jasper, 2001; Rosetti, 2019; Rothstein, 2001: 223; Wright et al., 1992: 126). In this perspective, ideology and collective identity serve as frames through which individuals can become more likely to think of their interests in group rather than individual terms (Benford and Snow, 2000; Kelly, 1998; MacKenzie et al., 2006; Palm, 2020; Polletta and Jasper, 2001: 285; Snow and Benford, 1988).3

One may usefully in this regard conceive of trade unions as 'complex historical configurations of both ideas and interests', where interests are shaped by and infused with meaning through certain ideas, at the same time as ideas are guided by interests (Jackson and Muellenborn, 2012: 486). Focusing on a related distinction between norms and interests, Svallfors argues: 'As explanatory mechanisms, interests and norms are not easily distinguished. Interest-based and norm-based explanations often overlap, since individuals and groups more readily cultivate and defend those norms from which they stand to gain' (Svallfors, 2006: 22). Unions may thus cultivate and promulgate certain collectivistic norms and values – notably including commitment to a 'moral economy as against the economy of the free market' (Thompson, 2013: 73) – in order to mitigate collective action

³ Such an emphasis on subjective factors related to ideology and identity should not, however, detract from the influence also of structures and material interests (Blyth, 2003: 698; Carstensen et al., 2022: 17–8; Pierson, 1993: 598; Polletta and Jasper, 2001; Wright, 1985). Polletta and Jasper note: 'too often collective identity has been invoked simply to fill gaps left by structuralist, state-centered, or rational choice models, in the process reproducing the very dichotomies the concept is supposed to challenge. Specifically, we should not assume that identity is the opposite of interest [...] with self-regarding action contrasted to altruistic action' (Polletta and Jasper, 2001: 298).

problems (Korpi, 1998: 56). As Sánchez-Mosquera observes, in terms of unionization a classic cohesive factor overriding the lack of rational interest has often been a collective political left-wing identity (Sánchez-Mosquera, 2023: 6). Equally, the pursuit of 'more' associated with business unionism could also be considered as a collectivistic ideological frame, and one which is likely to hold different implications in terms of members' attitudes and unions' political agendas. With regards tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader social agendas, these questions resonate with the themes examined in Papers III and IV.

Consequently, beyond any exogenous form of instrumental rationality, a predetermined set of 'fixed preferences' to be maximized, and once the point is established that unionization can be shaped by group identification and social processes, 'we have opened up a much bigger set of issues about the formation of interest' (Kelly, 1998: 72).4 Indeed, the interests that unions serve to aggregate and represent are particularly difficult determine due to lack of a 'common denominator to which all these heterogeneous and often conflicting needs can be reduced so as to "optimize" demands and tactics' (Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 75). There exists a vast range of tensions and strategic trade-offs, pertaining for example to the relative salience attributed to wages, employment security, working time, working conditions (including less tangible moral issues of self-respect or standards of craftsmanship), and - not least - the wider social and natural environment (Johnson et al., 1992; Rosa, 2019: 236; Thompson, 2013: 261; Turnbull, 1988: 112; Valizade et al., 2022). Ambiguities in the relationship between trade unions and the environment can be seen through such a lens. A line of reasoning pursued across Papers III and IV – which is looked at more closely further below – is that workers may be more likely to embrace agendas relating to the wider natural environment under contexts where conditions are more favourable pertaining to other union agendas, notably including conditions at work and the de-

_

⁴ As Blyth argues: 'if one takes ideas seriously as causal elements, as "subjective mental models," then one must see them as having an effect on the content of what agents want [...] otherwise, ideas would simply be the residue of preexisting interests and thus unimportant' (Blyth, 2003: 697).

commodification of labour. Issues relating to the latter are addressed in various ways across Papers I and II, to which the following discussion turns.

Unions and management-worker conflict

Trade unions can thus be conceived of as organizational expressions of a structured antagonism between workers and employers. Wage-earners share certain commonalities around which they create institutions collectively to deliberate upon and in turn promote their interests in dispute with employers (Korpi, 2019: 17; Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980). In this context, embodying a form of resistance to and amelioration of power-imbalances in the employment relationship, trade unions' effects on perceptions and attitudes about class and employment relations – workers' 'class consciousness', to use a more loaded term – are notoriously ambiguous (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Hyman, 1989b; Lenin, 1973; Lipset, 1981; Lukács, 2018; Svallfors, 2006; Tronti, 2019; Wright, 1985). While effects may be heterogeneous across different unions, there is a general tension wherein unions channel and may even stimulate members' consciousness of conflict in the employment relationship while at the same time seeking 'to limit the expression of industrial conflict to forms over which they can exert control, and which do not jeopardise the arrangements and understandings developed with employers' (Hyman, 1989b: 40).5 These ambiguities raise a set of questions addressed in Paper I, resonating with some of the fundamental issues in the industrial relations literature and beyond: do unions tend to foster or reduce perceptions of conflict between management

⁵ Indeed, while beyond the scope of the empirical analyses pursued in this dissertation union effects on conflict perceptions may vary across different types of unions (Hyman, 2001). One may think of such variation along a continuum from radical revolutionary (e.g., syndicalist and communist) unions through encompassing and reformist unions to catholic or employer friendly 'yellow unions' (Furåker, 2005: 88–89). This is further not to reduce perceptions of management-worker conflict exclusively to an outcome of what unions do. Many other factors are likely to matter, including the behaviour and attitudes of employers (Freeman, 1986; Furåker, 2005: 159; Heery and Simms, 2010; Kelly, 1998; Western, 1997: 176–7).

and workers, provided indeed that they do affect such perceptions at all?

There is a notable shortage of research specifically examining union effects on conflict perceptions. The overview below therefore covers research on attitudes and perceptions concerning related although certainly distinct topics by reviewing some findings pertaining to the construct of class consciousness (Wright, 1985, 1997) and the extensive literature on unions and job satisfaction (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Laroche, 2016). While class consciousness and job satisfaction indeed are discrete constructs – across which union effects well may vary – the research into these issues can nevertheless offer some insights of use for understanding union effects on conflict perceptions and the underlying causal mechanisms. When considering 'union effects' in this regard, it is pertinent to distinguish between mechanisms relating to why workers unionize in the first place (Lewin, 2005: 216) – i.e. selection effects – and those whereby unions partake in shaping perceptions, which can be referred to as transformative effects (Bledow, 2021: 36; Hadziabdic and Baccaro, 2020; Kim and Margalit, 2017; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017, 2022). Recent research provides some cause for caution against explanations for union effects based on cross-sectional data too one-sidedly foregrounding transformative mechanisms, such that attitudinal differences between union members and non-members are attributed causally to the experience of union membership (Hadziabdic and Baccaro, 2020; Laroche, 2016). The overview below is therefore sensitive to the distinction between selection and transformation mechanisms.

Unions fanning the flames of discontent

The argument that unions foster perceptions of conflict between management and workers can be inferred from literatures with roots in diverse intellectual traditions. Union critics and certain conservative political elements portray unions as fundamentally disruptive institutions that incite conflict in an otherwise harmonious employment relationship (see Hyman, 1989b: 225; Lewin, 2005: 210). Portrayals of this sort are underpinned by a unitarist conception of the employment

relationship, wherein any expression of conflict is seen as 'pathological' (Fox, 1969; Lewin, 2001: 461; Van Buren et al., 2021: 181). Unitarism has been referred to as 'management's frame of reference', holding to the view of the organization through the analogy of the sports team (Fox, 1969), and resonates with underlying ideas in (at least some branches of) the Human Resource Management literature (Greenwood and Van Buren, 2017; Kelly, 2018). As an example, Turner et al. observe: 'Many firms prefer to exclude trade unions, believing that *unions interfere with the intrinsic harmony and common interests between employer and employees* and undermine management's prerogative to manage' (Turner et al., 2020: 282 emphasis added; see also Carstensen et al., 2022: 14).

Others maintain that trade unions do represent the genuine interests of their members (or labour more broadly) and that these interests often, although not invariably, conflict with those of the employers. While it must not necessarily follow from such a perspective that unions augment perceptions of conflict, there are a number of reasons – relating both to selection and transformative effects – for why they might. As it pertains to the latter, unions may seek to raise perceptions of management-worker conflict and 'cast management as the enemy' in order to motivate workers to unionize, to mobilize the current membership (Lincoln and Boothe, 1993: 160; Kelly, 1998), and to justify their own existence as vehicles of opposition (Lewin, 2005: 210). As Hyman notes, 'a union which damps down workers' discontents too far destroys its own reason for existence' (Hyman, 1989a: 79). In other words, and relating back to the role of framing in collective action, trade unions may seek in various ways to characterize the nature of the employment relationship in terms of a conflict between a 'them' and an 'us' that can be conducive to collective mobilization (Benford and Snow, 2000; Gahan and Pekarek, 2013; Kelly, 1998; Korpi, 2001: 249; Lee, 2007: 587; Lévesque and Murray, 2010: 343). Palm suggests: 'Because attribution is a crucial factor for collective mobilization, ideologies that promote conflicting interests between employers and employees [...] will enhance collective mobilization' (Palm, 2017: 53).

Empirically, Wright (1985, 1997) finds evidence which he reads as support for a broadly similar line of reasoning, studying Sweden and the US and comparing the attitudes of union members with their nonorganized counterparts. Across different class locations, i.e.,

independent of such factors as authority and skills, union members are demonstrated to be more likely than non-members to subscribe to various anticapitalist attitudes – what is referred to as anti-capitalist class consciousness.6 Wright interprets these findings as indication that unions have a causal impact on workers' attitudes towards class and employment relations (Wright, 1985: 270-4), arguing that 'Union membership is likely to be among the most important intervening factors in the consciousness formation process' (1985: 269). Moreover, this 'union effect' is demonstrated to be more sizeable in Sweden compared to the US, leading Wright to infer: 'This suggests that it is not simply the fact of unionization that acts as a mediating process in consciousnessformation, but the strength and social weight of the labour movement' (Wright, 1985: 274). Wright thus submits that stronger labour movements may reinforce rather than supress critical attitudes towards class and employment relations (Wright, 1985: 278). Indeed, it is argued that the more widespread anticapitalist attitudes of Swedish workers is a result partially of 'the fact that Swedish union members are more anticapitalist than American union members' and partially of 'the fact that the Swedish working-class coalition has a much higher rate of unionization' (Wright, 1997: 434).

Somewhat similarly, Frangi et al. conclude a review of the literature by suggesting that union members have a 'higher exposure to union framing of labour conflict', which in their particular case is suggested to stimulate a higher willingness among members to mobilize against their employers (Frangi et al., 2022: 1240). Their research confirms this argument by revealing that union members are more inclined than non-members to join strike action and also, notably, that individuals in countries with stronger industrial relations institutions, regardless of their individual membership status, are more willing to do so. Svallfors (2006) also emphasizes the impact of unions contextually in terms of framing class and employment relations – what he refers to as the 'articulation' of class – by suggesting:

_

⁶ Class consciousness in Wright's usage does not encompass explicit perceptions of conflict. More generally in traditional frameworks of subjective class, a perception of conflict – or 'conflict consciousness' – does tend to be an element of class consciousness (Cigéhn et al., 2001; Giddens, 1973: 112–3; Mann, 1973).

All else remaining constant, we would expect that strong unions encourage more of a partisan mentality (whereby the interests of the management only partly coincide with those of the employees) among the employees than weak unions are able to do [...] [S]trong unions can actually contribute to a more negative image of the organization or company and stronger class antagonisms. (Svallfors, 2006: 34–5)

Empirically, Svallfors examines workers' views of their employing organization rather than the relations between workers and management as such, nevertheless demonstrating more negative views, or lower commitment, in Sweden compared to the US, in spite of Swedish wage-earners valuing the work itself higher than Americans. These 'partisan attitudes' are attributed to the stronger union base in Sweden (Svallfors, 2006: 51). Thus a hypothesis (H1) in Paper I extends the logic of the research covered above to conflict perceptions, proposing that union members may be more likely than non-members to perceive management-worker conflict and that such perceptions further may be more widely held among members and non-members alike in countries with higher unionization rates.

Moreover, the findings reported above also align with the widely established negative link between union membership and job satisfaction (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Laroche, 2016), the extensive and methodologically sophisticated literature on which may serve more comprehensively to elucidate some of the potential mechanisms involved. Indeed, several important contributions in the job satisfaction literature utilize high quality datasets and yield insights regarding causal mechanisms that are of value to research into union effects also beyond the specific issue of job satisfaction – within the context of this dissertation particularly concerning the themes of Papers I and II. There is thus good cause to survey the job satisfaction literature in some detail.

Although less consistently so outside the US and UK, a large body of research spanning across more than 40 years finds that union members tend to be less satisfied with their jobs than their non-organized counterparts (Bessa et al., 2021; Borjas, 1979; Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Goerke and Huang, 2022; Green and Heywood, 2015; Laroche, 2016). This negative 'union effect' is described as a paradox as it seems to contradict the idea that unions function to improve the terms and conditions of work (e.g. Green and Heywood, 2015: 580). As Freeman and Medoff (1984: 136) ask in their seminal study: 'If unions "deliver

the goods" to the workers, why are the members dissatisfied?'. To answer the question, Freeman and Medoff apply the exit-voice theory developed by Hirschman (1970) and attribute union members' dissatisfaction to the role of unions as voice institutions (see also Borjas, 1979).⁷ In this perspective, union members' dissatisfaction springs from efforts by the union to galvanize workers by highlighting negative aspects of the work environment, an interpretation which hence resonates with the idea of a transformative effect underpinned by union framing. Particularly relevant to present purposes, when decomposing various aspects of the job, Freeman and Medoff (1984: 142) find that the 'membership effect' is most pronounced on perceived adversarial relations with management, members rating such relations as worse than non-members. In conclusion, they argue: 'whereas exit removes an individual from the undesired condition, voice operates by fanning discontent' (Freeman and Medoff, 1984: 148-9 emphasis added). The theory thus builds on the idea of a causal union impact on job satisfaction (Bessa et al., 2021: 252; Lincoln and Boothe, 1993: 162).

However, while some subsequent research corroborates the argument that unions have a causal effect on job dissatisfaction (e.g. Artz, 2010), the 'voice thesis' remains disputed, and others have proposed competing interpretations that involve various selection mechanisms (see Laroche, 2016 for a rigorous review and meta-analysis). One argument emphasizes working conditions, positing that when such conditions are controlled for adequately, much of the union effect disappears or even turns positive (Bessa et al., 2021; Bryson et al., 2004; Lincoln and Boothe, 1993; Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990). In an important contribution, Pfeffer and Davis-Blake (1990) submit that previous studies have not controlled adequately for (unfavourable) working conditions, notably including such issues as the degree of worker control over the job (Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990: 263, 265). Consequently, the same authors reveal that union membership is associated negatively with factors such as autonomy (Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990: 269) and conclude that this indicates that unionization is not independent from the conditions at work, suggesting rather that 'unions are more likely

⁷ Hirschman defines voice as 'any attempt at all to change rather than to escape from an objectionable state of affairs' (Hirschman, 1970: 30).

to thrive when workers have some incentive to organize in order to improve working conditions' (Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990: 264). These results might reflect a broader limitation of cross-sectional studies which can fail to isolate the causal impacts of membership from elements fostering unionization in the first place (Laroche, 2016), such that job dissatisfaction – due in turn to less favourable working conditions - can promote unionization and not the other way around (Charlwood, 2002: 481; Kochan, 1979: 26). This holds important consequences because 'if unions tend to organize undesirable jobs, unions might actually improve perceptions of these jobs. However, even after union improvement, perceptions of union jobs might remain more negative than perceptions of more desirable jobs in the nonunion sector' (Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990: 280). Indeed, net of such working conditions, Pfeffer and Davis-Blake demonstrate a positive union effect on job satisfaction and conclude that 'when models explaining job satisfaction are correctly specified, unions in fact have a positive effect on job satisfaction and the apparent paradox disappears' (Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990: 281). Other studies also emphasize the selection (or 'sorting') of certain individuals into membership but focus on such personal characteristics as values, attitudes, and personality traits (Green and Heywood, 2015; and see Barling et al., 1991; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012). In this perspective, people more predisposed to job dissatisfaction or at least less predisposed to job satisfaction may be more likely to unionize – hence another explanatory mechanism rivalling the notion of a causal impact of unions (Green and Heywood, 2015).

In sum, the literature on unions and job satisfaction – often utilizing panel and other high quality data sets – provides some cause for caution against too one-sided causal interpretations of union effects (Bryson et al., 2010; Hadziabdic, 2020; Laroche, 2016: 711). Laroche concludes a meta-study by proposing a number of potential endogeneity mechanisms underlying a negative union effect on job satisfaction that are of clear relevance also to the question of union effects on conflict perceptions, whereby unionization can be the result of workers' experience of workplace conflict, certain workers being intrinsically more dissatisfied and more prone to unionize, and certain unpleasant jobs being more conducive to unionization (Laroche, 2016: 731). In order more comprehensively to address union effects in this regard, one

analytical strategy is to go beyond micro-level measures of union membership and instead or simultaneously look at more aggregated measures, as such measures better may capture some of the collective benefits of unions (Esser and Olsen, 2012; Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013; Hoque et al., 2017; O'Brady and Doellgast, 2021). This is a fundamental analytical insight that is manifested throughout the approach of the papers constituting this dissertation.

As noted above, the majority of studies on unions and job satisfaction are based on data from the US and UK, and given the peculiarities of their industrial relations systems, the findings cannot immediately be generalized to other contexts (Goerke and Huang, 2022: 1; Laroche, 2016: 736; Sverke and Hellgren, 2001: 171). Recent research attends to this issue through comparative analyses that combine the micro- and the macro-level (Hipp and Givan, 2015). In a multi-level analysis, Hipp and Givan reveal that the membership effect on job satisfaction varies cross-nationally, and also – arguably in line with the logics advanced respectively by Wright (1985) and Svallfors (2006) – that union density is associated negatively with job satisfaction (Hipp and Givan, 2015: 364). Their findings are mixed, however, insofar as when decomposing job satisfaction and looking specifically at ratings of the material aspects of the job, such satisfaction is higher in countries with higher collective bargaining coverage (Hipp and Givan, 2015: 368). Furthermore, and in keeping with this latter finding, other research documents a positive correlation between job satisfaction union density (Donegani and McKay, 2012: 481-2). As it pertains to 'union effects' at the country-level, research is thus inconclusive but points to the value in considering several analytical levels in order to address potential selection mechanisms reflected in individual-level effects of union membership: while union members may be more prone than nonmembers to perceive management-worker conflicts, it does not necessarily follow that such conflicts are more widely perceived in countries with higher rates of unionization. A number of studies may in fact suggest the opposite (Edlund and Lindh, 2015; Esser and Olsen, 2012).

'From class war to bureaucratic gamesmanship': pluralism, radicalism, and the social integration of workers

As is the case with the notion that unions foster management-worker conflict, the idea that unions reduce conflict perceptions may be deduced from varying approaches to the employment relationship. One such approach is pluralism, a key frame of reference in the Anglo-American industrial relations literature (Fox, 1969; Frege, 2008: 40; Kaufman, 2008). With intellectual roots that can be traced back to Durkheim and Parsonian functionalism (Cullinane, 2014: 222-3; Hyman, 1989b: 70-1) but encapsulating a broad range of perspectives (Van Buren et al., 2021), the pluralist frame recognizes conflicts inherent to the employment contract upon which unions are structurally predicated, but holds that unions do not introduce or augment such conflicts: 'They simply provide a highly organized and continuous form of expression for sectional interests which would exist anyway' (Fox, 1969: 399). From a pluralist perspective it must not follow that trade unions reduce conflict perceptions.8 However, there are good reasons on basis of this approach to expect unions – and strong industrial relations institutions more broadly (e.g., collective bargaining) – to do so. Clegg (1975: 310) laid out a central tenet of industrial relations pluralism when he wrote that '[...] men [sic] associate together to further their common interests and desires; their associations exert pressure on each other and on the government; the concessions which follow help to bind society together [...]'. By and large, this is how many pluralists conceive of the institutionalization of class conflict, described by

⁸ Indeed, as Turner et al. argue: '[...] independent voice allows employees to "speak up" and legitimizes a culture of opposition that is central to a pluralist ethos. Trade union membership potentially socializes workers into the legitimacy of opposition [...]' (Turner et al., 2020: 282 emphasis added). Or as Dukes and Streeck write with regards to what they refer to as 'the mantra of industrial relations pluralism, or indeed pluralism generally [...] peace must be preceded by an unimpeded articulation of conflicting interests and their assignment to an arena where all parties have recourse to roughly similar political capacities' (Dukes and Streeck, 2023: 131); 'For a settlement under what has been called "pluralist" industrial relations, there is no requirement of normative integration; as collective agreements can be and usually are renegotiated every year, they can, as temporary compromises, be signed by both sides in spite of unreconciled values and, in principle, irreconcilable interests' (Streeck, 2023: 13).

Kerr et al. (1960: 292) as a transition 'from class war to bureaucratic gamesmanship'. For pluralists, such a 'transition' aligns with an often explicit normative agenda and concern with social integration and cohesion, striving towards 'creating a *balance* between the competing interests in the employment relationship' (Budd et al., 2004: 197 emphasis added; also see e.g. Fox and Flanders, 1969; Kaufman, 2008). As Lipset notes in a line of reasoning that reflects the general pluralist sentiment:

Cleavage—where it is legitimate—contributes to the integration of societies and organizations. Trade-unions, for example, help to integrate their members in the larger body politic and give them a basis for loyalty to the system. Marx's focus on unions [...] as expediters of revolutionary tension was incorrect. (Lipset, 1981: 1)

However, pace Lipset, outcomes analogous to those observed by pluralists are recognized also within a more radical perspective, including by Marx himself who remained ambivalent in this regard (Hyman, 2001; Kelly, 1988: 12). Many radical institutionalists and others rooted in Marxism see unions as forms of resistance to power-imbalances inherent to the employment relationship which tend to be limited to ameliorating the surface-level manifestations of such imbalances. In this perspective, unions' lessening of the intensity of conflict is interpreted more critically as inhibiting the growth of radical forms of oppositional consciousness questioning the underlying social relations of capitalism (Crouch, 1982: 36; Hyman, 1989b; Lukács, 2018: 61; Tronti, 2019; Western, 1997: 6; Lenin, 1973). Consequently, the preferred terminology tends to be one where institutions such as unions organize and shape the expression of conflict, as distinguished from what Edwards refers to as 'the old-fashioned distinction between the causation of conflict and its containment' (Edwards, 1992: 372).9 Moreover, a radical approach situates the role of unions in a broader framework (see Horkheimer, 1972 for a more general exposition of some analogous themes), for example by emphasizing the historically specific conditions under which post-war labour relations tended to become stabilized, including a long era of economic growth extending the margins

⁹ Similarly, Hyman notes: 'It is highly misleading to posit a simple dichotomy between industrial peace or order on the one hand, and conflict on the other' (Hyman, 1989b: 101)

for compromise, and the privileged position of western capitalist nations (and hence the western working class) in a global economic system (Frege et al., 2011; Hyman, 1989b: 87, 1994a: 114; Kelly, 1998; Marsden, 1982; Offe, 1985a: 822; Silver, 2003; Wallerstein, 2004). From this perspective tends also to follow an emphasis on contradictions and instabilities inherent to a capitalist economy that undermine the long-term viability of equilibrium (Baccaro and Howell, 2017: 12–3; Calhoun, 2020: 152; Harvey, 1981; Silver, 2003; Streeck, 2011: 164, 2016a, 2016b). As Streeck argues:

capitalism as a social formation would appear to be torn by a fundamental contradiction between a 'need', functional as well as social, for stability on the one hand and, on the other, an internal restlessness that makes stability impossible to achieve for more than short breathing periods. (Streeck, 2011: 161)

Consequently, although unions can serve to lessen the intensity of conflict and hence might reduce conflict perceptions, the radical frame is cognizant of 'limits to the way a political consensus can emerge between labour and capital in the current socio-economic context, such that it is always contingent and never fully embedded given the nature of power asymmetries' (Dundon et al., 2020: 13–14).

Empirically, there are a number of previous studies that offer evidence – primarily in a country-comparative perspective – which suggest that unions may contribute towards reducing conflict perceptions (Donegani and McKay, 2012; Edlund and Lindh, 2015; Esser and Olsen, 2012). Of particular relevance in this connection is the distinction made by Edlund and Lindh (2015), drawing on Korpi (2001, 2006, 2019), between social and political manifestations of class conflict. Social class conflict concerns 'tensions and antagonism between social categories located at different levels in the socio-economic hierarchy outside parliamentary politics', notably including conflict played out 'at the site of production' (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 312). Political conflict in turn 'refers to class struggles that are mainly institutionalized within parliamentary politics and resolved in a "peaceful" way through the implementation of redistributive welfare state policies' (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 312). Edlund and Lindh demonstrate in a country-comparative analysis that these two manifestations of class conflict are correlated negatively: political class conflict, operationalized as the magnitude of class differences in political preferences, is more pronounced in countries with lower social class conflict - measured as public perceptions of class-related social conflict, which while a broader construct encompasses conflict between management and workers. Edlund and Lindh argue further that the relative salience of political versus social manifestations of class conflict reflects the power of organized labour, as labour will tend to seek to transfer 'distributive struggles from the labor market into parliamentary politics' (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 324).10 The success of organized labour in this connection is held to be manifested in the size of the welfare state (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 313; cf. Baldwin, 1990) - an argument returned to further below in connection with the second overarching theme which is demonstrated to correlate negatively with perceived social class conflict while positively with political class conflict. Hence, while Edlund and Lindh focus on perceptions of broader social class conflict as moderated by the size of the welfare state, the findings suggest that the strength of working class organization can hold implications for which particular aspect of class conflict is most salient (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 323). Building on their insights, a second hypothesis (H2) in Paper I proposes that management-worker conflict is less widely perceived in countries with more influential unions - partly due to lower levels of economic inequality and more encompassing social policies oriented towards the de-commodification of labour (also see Esping-Andersen, 1990; Huber and Stephens, 2014).

Beyond redistributive issues, and returning to the selection mechanisms raised above, a further reason for why managementworker conflict may be less widely perceived in countries with stronger

¹⁰ Edlund and Lindh suggest: 'broad layers of the population have good reasons to prefer to locate societal bargaining in parliamentary politics rather than stay within a market relationship' because of the principle of 'one person – one vote' (Edlund and Lindh, 2015: 313). This argument builds on an influential thesis about the 'democratic class struggle' advocated by Korpi, arguing that it is 'in the interests of wage-earners to move the struggle for the distribution of the fruits of production into the political arena, where their numerical strength can be used more effectively [...]' (Korpi, 2019: 170). Similar distinctions are also made in the industrial relations literature. Müller-Jentsch argues: 'Collective bargaining is a central integrating mechanism of capitalist society in that it seeks to divorce economic from political struggles and to channel class conflict into class conflicts of interests with pragmatic outcomes' (Müller-Jentsch, 1985: 9; see also Giddens, 1973: 202).

unions and industrial relations institutions pertains to the positive association between the strength of such institutions (e.g., as proxied by union density and collective bargaining coverage) on the one hand, and conditions at work such as employee autonomy, job security, and lower work intensity on the other (Adăscăliței et al., 2022; Berglund and Furâker, 2016; Dixon et al., 2013; Edlund and Grönlund, 2008; Esser and Olsen, 2012: 444; Gallie, 2007; Green and McIntosh, 2001; Kalleberg, 2018: 101). In a key contribution, Esser and Olsen demonstrate that there is a positive association between union density and job autonomy, also when controlling for the prevalence of firm-specific skills, the latter a key alternative explanatory mechanism derived from the Varieties of Capitalism literature. They conclude:

The analyses provide evidence that unionization is an important determinant of job autonomy and is positively related to job security [...] The power of workers through unions may improve quality of working life by constraining the actions of employers and thereby provide workers with greater involvement in decision making and more control over work tasks. (Esser and Olsen, 2012: 452)

These country-level findings are hence notable as an inversion of the selection effects raised in the preceding section (e.g. Pfeffer and Davis-Blake, 1990), speaking to the collective benefits of unions. Taken together, the research covered above might suggests that while a number of selection mechanisms can lead to union members being more likely than non-members to perceive management-worker conflict, such perceptions – particularly in the extent to which they are rooted in unfavourable working conditions – may nevertheless be less widely held in

¹¹ More broadly with regards to competing causal mechanisms in the comparative literature, there is a vibrant exchange between advocates of power resources theory and more employer centred perspectives, the latter including the Varieties of Capitalism (VoC) approach (Baccaro and Howell, 2017; Bender, 2023; Edlund and Grönlund, 2010; Gordon, 2015; Hacker and Pierson, 2004; Hall and Soskice, 2001b; Kinderman, 2017; Korpi, 2006; Oude Nijhuis, 2009; Streeck, 2016b; Swenson, 1991, 2004). Scholars adhering respectively to the VoC (Hall and Soskice, 2001a) and the power resources approach (Korpi, 2006) agree that conditions such as worker autonomy and control are more prevalent in high union density-countries (e.g., Esser and Olsen, 2012; Lyness et al., 2012) – but differ in terms of the identification of underlying forces. VoC-scholars emphasise the actions of firms and the comparative advantages related to employee involvement in certain contexts – particularly Coordinated Market Economies (CMEs) where employee involvement and autonomy is argued to follow from higher degrees of employee-skill specificity. Power resources theory scholars and others put a heavier emphasis on conflicts and the relative bargaining position of employees visà-vis employers (Doellgast et al., 2009: 490–1; Edlund and Grönlund, 2010).

countries with higher rates of unionization and stronger industrial relations institutions. The cited mechanism, whereby strong unions ameliorate conflict perceptions partly through the provision of more favourable working conditions in terms of such factors as autonomy, lead on to the question of what unions do at the workplace level, which is explored in Paper II.

What unions do at the workplace

As noted further above, trade unions provide a means for workers collectively to alter the social relations at work and thereby potentially within certain parameters extend their influence over organizational activities (Ackroyd and Bolton, 1999; Adăscăliței et al., 2022; Beynon, 1973; Bryson et al., 2013: 1008; Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Green et al., 2022; Simms, 2017). Paper II argues that such insights, regarding the role of unions as collective voice mechanisms in particular, and the social relations at work more generally, would be of value but tend not to be acknowledged in the influential job demands-resources (JD-R) theory (Demerouti et al., 2001), which has its roots in occupational psychology.

Building in part on the demand-control model (Karasek, 1979), JD-R theory divides characteristics of the work environment into two components: demands and resources. Job demands are efforts corresponding to physiological and/or psychological costs – which include elements of the job such as a high workload (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017; Van den Broeck et al., 2010). Job resources in turn are aspects of the work which are functional when it comes to achieving job goals, as well as in terms of reducing the costs – physiological or psychological - of job demands (Bakker et al., 2005; Bakker and Demerouti, 2017; Llorens et al., 2006; Tims et al., 2013). Job resources cover such factors as employee autonomy, control, and development opportunities. Following the conceptual outline above, elements of the job construed within JD-R theory as job demands and job resources can be understood usefully through the lens of tensions or conflict between management and workers regarding the social relations at work and control over the labour process (Edwards, 1979). As noted, in the context of such conflict trade unions represent a particular independent and collective form of employee voice, through which workers collectively can channel and seek to redress their concerns (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Wilkinson, Donaghey, et al., 2020; Wilkinson, Dundon, et al., 2020).

The significance of such voice mechanisms tends not to be acknowledged within the JD-R literature. While some JD-R studies do consider the impact of employee voice, focus is predominantly on direct and *individual* voice mechanisms (Conway et al., 2016; Holland et al., 2017; Li et al., 2021; and see Barry and Wilkinson, 2022 for a broader critique of the 'psychologization' and hence individualization of the employee voice construct). To advance the theory, there are strong reasons to consider collective voice as an important causal mechanism through which workers can reduce job demands and increase job resources (i.e., job autonomy, job control, and job training).

As it pertains to job demands, important insights concerning union effects can be derived from the literature on work intensification (Ackroyd and Bolton, 1999; Adăscăliței et al., 2022; Green et al., 2022; Green and McIntosh, 2001). Central accounts within this body of literature point to trade unionism and worker collectivism as principal countervailing forces against work pressure and intensification (Adăscăliței et al., 2022; Bacon, 1999; Green et al., 2022). Green et al., (2022: 475, 480), for example, observe a negative while weak association between union recognition and the intensity of work, concluding in a broader perspective that union decline during past decades in all likelihood has contributed to a trend of work intensification that is observed widely across Europe. Similarly, O'Brady and Doellgast argue:

unions are on the front lines of efforts to combat well-established causes of stress at work. [...] Union shop stewards enforce collective agreement provisions, engage in labor-management cooperation over key areas of mutual concern, and initiate campaigns designed to alleviate stress in the workplace. (O'Brady and Doellgast, 2021: 307)

In terms of some of the underlying mechanisms, Bacon (1999) offers a valuable case-based account by establishing a connection between the derecognition of unions and a management strategy focused on individualizing employment relations, the ultimate aim being work intensification, the latter in turn demonstrated to be deterred by the

collective employee voice of the union. Based on these insights, Paper II suggests the hypothesis (H1) that union influence at the workplace has a negative effect on job demands.

Turning to factors construed in JD-R theory as job resources – i.e., job autonomy, control, and training – there are good reasons to hypothesize a positive collective voice effect (Berton et al., 2023; Beynon, 1973; Heyes and Stuart, 1998; Hoque et al., 2017; O'Brady and Doellgast, 2021; Simms, 2017; Wang et al., 2023). With regards to union effects on autonomy, previous research has yielded some mixed findings (Boxall and Winterton, 2018; Gallie et al., 2004), in relation to which scholars highlight a set of analytical points which relate back to the previous outline of the job satisfaction literature. Most notably, one explanation offered for these ambiguous results points to the use of fairly blunt measures of collective voice such as union membership or union presence at work; measures which are argued not to be 'wellequipped to capture the actual effectiveness of unions in providing representation or supporting workers' (O'Brady and Doellgast, 2021: 311; see also Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013: 563). In line with this logic, Hoque et al. (2017) argue that unions as collective voice mechanisms serve as more than communication channels between workers and management, and consequently that the extent to which problems brought to management attention are addressed depends not only upon the presence of a union, but also upon the possibilities for the union to put pressure on employers. Consequently, the same research documents a positive effect of trade union representation at work on such conditions as worker influence and development opportunities, a positive effect which is mediated by the extent to which the union provides efficient voice (Hoque et al., 2017). These findings hold important analytical consequences in terms of how to measure trade union effects that are reflected in Paper II – suggesting that while collective voice is likely to have a positive effect on job resources (H2), it is prudent to proxy voice through measures that capture union influence as opposed to mere presence at the workplace, or indeed union membership at the individual level.

Lastly, Paper II also addresses a recently identified gap in the JD-R literature by developing an additional hypothesis concerning the covariation of job demands and job resources (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017). A central component to JD-R theory is that demands and

resources, aside from having independent effects, also interact. Studies have reported such interactions, for example demonstrating that job resources - notably autonomy - decrease the impact of job demands on burnout (Bakker et al., 2005). In other words, the extent to which job demands have negative consequences in terms of employee wellbeing often depends upon the extent to which demands are met with sufficient job resources. However, research into factors that affect the covariation of demands and resources is lacking; i.e., insights are scarce pertaining to the conditions under which high demands are met with job resources (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017). Paper II suggests that collective voice may function as one such covariation element, representing a causal mechanism that moderates the demands-resources association. This line of reasoning builds on the notion that some jobs may be inherently demanding, and that under such contexts trade unions can seek to ensure that high workloads are met with job resources such as training and employee autonomy – thus possibly remedying dissatisfaction (Barry and Wilkinson, 2022) that can follow from work intensity. In other words, while collective voice is argued in the hypothesis advanced above to have a positive overall impact on job resources, an additional hypothesis (H3) in Paper II suggest that such an effect may be stronger under high demands, because employees might be more prone raise concerns for job resources to cope with the high demands, and because management under such conditions could be more amenable to the employees' case.

Thus, Paper II argues that trade unions provide a means for workers collectively to alter the social relations at work and extend their control over organizational activities, thereby potentially reducing job demands and increasing job resources. Accordingly, as noted in the discussion above concerning union effects on conflict perceptions (Paper I), comparative research demonstrates that in countries with stronger unions and industrial relations institutions, conditions tend to be more favourable in terms of such factors as workers' autonomy, job security, and work intensity (Adăscăliței et al., 2022; Dixon et al., 2013; Edlund and Grönlund, 2008; Esser and Olsen, 2012: 444; Gallie, 2007; Green and McIntosh, 2001; Berglund and Furåker, 2016). Taken together these insights lead on to the next set of questions addressed under the theme of tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. A line of reasoning pursued particularly

in Paper III is that in contexts where conditions are more favourable pertaining to some of the issues considered above, notably including attainments in the political sphere relating to the de-commodification of labour, the scope may expand for unions and their members – and possibly wage-earners more broadly – to embrace broader political agendas (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Bledow and Busemeyer, 2021: 271). As Gordon argues:

higher union density will (other things being equal) provide union movements with a sense of institutional and/or labor market security and this is likely to encourage them to conceive of their interests and policy ambitions broadly. When density is low and/or declining, these transformative ambitions will be consequently weakened and such movements will focus on defending existing policy and contractual victories for their core memberships. (Gordon, 2015: 90)

The present dissertation examines an aspect of this issue by engaging with debates about the relationship between trade unions and the environment, specifically through the analysis of union members' support for environmental protection. Environmental degradation and the ongoing climate crisis (IPCC, 2021, 2022) may indeed represent a significant and pressing issue to which the logic suggested by Gordon (2015: 90) could be applied, not least as efforts to protect the environment can precipitate resistance due to concerns of a more immediate nature pertaining to economic and labour market security (Iskander and Lowe, 2020: 112; Panarello, 2021). Consequently, unionized workers are often portrayed through the lens of jobs versus the environment (Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 186), and similar tensions run through the level of union policy (Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Thomas, 2021; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020). Notwithstanding such tensions, there are reasons – notably involving political ideology and the propensity to consider broader collective issues (Iversen and Soskice, 2015; Kirmanoğlu and Baslevent, 2012; Wright, 1997) – to expect union members to be more willing than non-members to support environmental protection. These are some of the key issues explored in Papers III and IV. The following section locates these studies in a broader theoretical context, outlines the literature and expands upon some of the causal mechanisms underpinning the research hypotheses.

Immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas: trade unions and the environment

Are unions nothing more than narrow self-interest groups which unite individual workers via their ability to improve the individual's well-being through collective action? (Fiorito, 1992: 20)

A longstanding theme in the industrial relations literature and beyond concerns tensions in unionism between immediate sectional interests versus broader social agendas (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Cohen, 2011; Fiorito, 1992; Flanders, 1970; Holgate, 2021: 158; Hyman, 2001; Simms, 2012). Such tensions are central to most if not all debates about the relationship between trade unions and the environment, as a sufficiently expeditious transition towards environmental sustainability is claimed to involve costs and trade-offs at least in the shorter term, be it through higher prices and/or taxes, loss of employment or even 'economic contraction', i.e., slower or no economic growth (Antal, 2014; Ciplet and Harrison, 2020: 446–50; Gough, 2010; Gould et al., 2004; Hampton, 2015: 57, 186, 2018; Hickel and Kallis, 2020; Newell et al., 2022; Obach, 2004; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2019: 133; Schnaiberg and Gould, 1994). Consequently – regardless of the validity of the underlying assumptions – portrayals of unionized workers often highlight dilemmas of jobs versus the environment (Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 186), and the relationship between the labour movement and the environment has been characterized as 'tenuous, contradictory, and uneven' (Iskander and Lowe, 2020: 123). Snell and Fairbrother, for example, argue that unions are likely to continue to wrestle with tensions between job protection and respect for the natural environment, noting in conclusion: 'The danger is that job protection prevails above all else [...] After all, the union movement is a materialist movement representing those involved in production and related activity' (Snell and Fairbrother, 2010: 422).

While there is agreement that unions have integrated environmental issues on their agendas, in relation to which there is indeed a longstanding work-related health and safety component, assessments vary pertaining to the shape and extent of engagement beyond rhetoric (Barca, 2012; Bell, 2020; Hampton, 2015: 150; Obach, 2004; Räthzel et al., 2021; Silverman, 2004, 2006; Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 188). Analyses of such variation highlight the influence of such factors as

sectoral interests, the broader political and institutional environment, and – notably – unions' political identities (Barca, 2019; Clarke and Lipsig-Mummé, 2020; Felli, 2014; Fredriksson and Gaston, 1999; Hampton, 2015; Keil and Kreinin, 2022; Lundström, 2018; Pichler et al., 2021; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020). With regards to the latter, a distinction is often made between unions as economic actors, pursuing immediate workplace related or sectional interests primarily through collective bargaining, and a second approach where unions mobilize as social movements or 'swords of justice' based on workers' interests beyond the immediate workplace (Behrens and Pekarek, 2021; Flanders, 1970; Hampton, 2015; Hardt and Negri, 2007: 168-9; Hyman, 2001). Within this distinction, more narrowly oriented unions are not unconcerned with political representation, but the agendas pursued politically revolve around more immediate economic or sectional issues such as job security, wages, working hours, and working conditions (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013: 12; Crouch, 2017: 51; Müller-Jentsch, 1985: 16). Conversely, a broader politically informed union identity is often argued to be more conducive to union engagement with environmental issues (Felli, 2014; Lundström et al., 2015; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Snell and Fairbrother, 2010: 420).

As an example, Thomas and Doerflinger (2020) analyse the position towards climate change mitigation strategies of European trade unions in the manufacturing sector, identifying three ideal-typical approaches: opposition, hedging, and support. Their research finds hedging to be the most common strategy, whereby unions accept the scientific consensus on climate change and in principle support necessary policy measures, but nevertheless 'seek to minimize regulation, advocate incremental approaches and are reluctant to engage proactively with the transition-related employment implications' (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020: 390). The same study concludes that while such an incremental approach to environmental protection, underpinned by a focus on job protection, is likely to prevail above environmental concerns, this is not predetermined but rather mediated by unions' political identities:

the model of market-oriented or business unionism in which unions consider themselves primarily as labour market actors focused on their members' interests, regardless of the interests of other groups of workers and broader socio-political projects, could be conducive to *hedging* and

opposition strategies. In particular, market-oriented unions can be expected to enter into coalitions with employers over perceived shared interests to preserve business interests and employment. (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020: 394)

Conversely, the same authors argue, more broadly oriented unions are more likely to favour pro-active approaches and hence go beyond hedging strategies. Thus while union responses to environmental agendas are informed by sectoral location, for example such that manufacturing and transportation unions can be more reluctant towards environmental regulations (Thomas, 2021), unions' positions are also mediated by strategic choices and ideology (Stevis, 2023: 16–17). Previous cased-based accounts hence provide useful insights pertaining to unions' positions in environmental debates that resonate with the notion of unions as complex configurations of ideas and interests (Jackson and Muellenborn, 2012: 486).

There is a need to add to these debates with the perspective of union rank-and-file, not least from a quantitative perspective based on representative samples of union members. For example, union leaders have cited membership opposition as a constraining factor when it comes to pursuing more ambitious environmental agendas (Räthzel and Uzzell, 2019: 133), which highlights the importance of systematic examinations into union members' attitudes towards environmental protection. Moreover, given the tensions outlined above between narrow sectional concerns and broader collective interests, an examination of union members' environmental attitudes is also pertinent in a broader theoretical context (e.g., Brady, 2007; Fiorito, 1992; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Rosetti, 2019; Snape and Redman, 2004). Studying trade union members' support for environmental protection and explicating a number of potentially mediating causal mechanisms, Papers III and IV contribute to these debates.

-

¹² As an example, using Hyman's (2001) famous tripolar typology of union identities between class, society, and market, they note that 'class-oriented unions have a strategic preference for independent action due to the inherent antagonism between labour and capital', and this is suggested to lead to more active engagement with and support for environmental issues (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020: 394–5).

Union membership and support for environmental protection

Turning thus to the micro-level and the subject of union members' environmental attitudes, one possibility, based on the prevalence of hedging and similar union approaches (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020), is a selection mechanism resulting in a negative membership effect. In the degree to which trade unions are perceived as pursuing growth and jobs above or even at the cost of environmental concerns, pro-environmentally inclined individuals, and particularly those that are critical towards the growth paradigm, may be less likely to join a union. It is indeed on basis of such questions that contrasts are drawn between trade unions (as 'traditional' movements) and 'new social movements', the latter purportedly pursuing 'post-material' issues at the expense of class based concerns for economic expansion, redistribution, and material security (Inglehart, 2018; Kelly, 1998: 115; Offe, 1985a; Snell and Fairbrother, 2010: 422; Wilkinson et al., 2014: 6). As Uzzell and Räthzel note: 'For environmental movements nature needs to be defended against uncontrolled and thoughtless industrialisation, and the "productivism" of capital and labour alike' (Uzzell and Räthzel, 2013: 2). Offe captures some of the central facets that are suggested to underpin the distinction between traditional and new social movements, and which potentially may be reflected at the micro-level in the member/non-member distinction:

Both in terms of individual value dispositions and in terms of collective action and collective actors, a new cross-cutting dimension must be added which depicts the contrast between the old paradigm centered on issues of economic growth and security, on the one side, and the new paradigm defined by its defensive struggles against the irrationalities of modernization, on the other. (Offe, 1985a: 857)

On basis of such a new value cleavage, Offe argues, calls for environmental protection tend to be 'confronted by the sphere of production from the outside, where they frequently encounter the unified resistance of *both* labour and capital' (Offe, 1985c: 149).¹³ As far as union

¹³ Indeed Offe submits that such conflict is 'not a conflict between the principal economic agents of the model of production but an alliance that includes virtually every element *but*

members are concerned, such resistance may be rooted partly in the defence of hard-fought victories in certain sectors. A challenge in decarbonizing the economy is indeed that 'many of the jobs with large carbon footprints are in well-unionized sectors covered by comparatively advantageous collective agreements' (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020: 386). Many unionized workers may thus risk being affected by job loss due to environmental policies and worry about finding an equivalent job in terms of pay, career development and occupational prestige (Sikwebu and Aroun, 2021: 75; Thomas and Pulignano, 2021; Vona, 2019: 527). As Thomas and Pulignano conclude: 'If unions support ambitious climate mitigation policies, they risk alienating their core constituency in the unionised manufacturing industry; if, however, unions oppose climate action, they risk a confrontation with environmental movements and losing broader public support' (Thomas and Pulignano, 2021: 521).

Moreover, and relating back to the themes of the preceding section, resistance towards environmental protection can go beyond immediate interests in job protection, as a growing economy can serve as vehicle for such broader labour agendas traditionally favoured by union members as economic redistribution and welfare state expansion (Ciplet and Harrison, 2020: 449; Koch and Fritz, 2014: 698; Korpi, 2006: 192–3; Korpi and Shalev, 1979; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2022; Schnaiberg and Gould, 1994; Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 188). As Arndt and Rennwald suggest:

the greens find their origins in the criticism of the postwar Keynesian (productivist) class compromise advocated by both social democratic parties and unions [...] For the former, this economic model promoted employment and growth, while for the latter it posed a threat to natural resources. Over the years, the labour movement integrated issues related to sustainable development. Yet, this difference in origins might still have some impact,

-

these principal classes' (Offe, 1985a: 835). As an example, Hyman notes with regards to the post-war German trade union movement: 'Consensual productivism was widely regarded as the basis for a successful, high-skilled, high-quality, high-performance economy from which unionized workers could derive their share of the advantages. For many German trade unionists this was an explicit ideological point of reference; even those who articulated more oppositional views — counterposing class to social market — nevertheless seemed implicitly to embrace productivism. In effect, unions were both guarantors and beneficiaries of the German "economic miracle" (Hyman, 2001: 121).

particularly when issues of employment are in conflict with environmental issues. (Arndt and Rennwald, 2016: 704)

Not least when jobs and the predominance of economic growth preferences are questioned, unions and their members can thus be situated awkwardly in environmental debates (Felli, 2014; Schnaiberg and Gould, 1994). Even so, however, there are strong reasons to expect members generally to be more pro-environmentally inclined than their non-organized counterparts, including evidence from a handful of US studies examining union members' environmental attitudes (Chen, 2017; Kojola et al., 2014; Vachon and Brecher, 2016).

While important to note that the particularities of US industrial relations may imply that the results do not extend to other contexts (but see Fiorito and Padavic, 2022a), Chen (2017) finds union members to be more likely than non-members to consider government spending on environmental protection as being too little – also when controlling for such factors as income and sector. Similarly, Vachon and Brecher demonstrate that US union members are more likely to display various pro-environmental attitudes and behaviours, concluding that the findings 'go against the common sense understanding portrayed in the media that union members are solely concerned with their own economic interests at the expense of all others, including the environment' (Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 198). This latter line of reasoning is suggestive of a more extensive theoretical deliberation about union membership, self-interest, and pro-environmental attitudes. However, previous studies tend not to offer a theoretical rationale or seek to explain the positive membership effect empirically. Vachon and Brecher provide a valuable although descriptive account in which they note in conclusion that future research should conduct multivariate regression analyses with appropriate controls in order to uncover some of the underlying mechanisms (Vachon and Brecher, 2016: 191, 199). While contributing with a more comprehensive empirical analysis, Chen (2017) refers mainly to union policy when interpreting the results. Aside from extending the scope of analysis beyond the US there is thus cause to build on previous research also by considering some mechanisms that may underpin the association between union membership and support for environmental protection, notably including considerations of narrow self-interest versus broader societal interests. These questions are addressed in Papers III and IV.

A first and potentially significant mechanism in this regard – which is examined empirically in Paper III – is ideological orientation. Although more so in the advanced capitalist economies (Lewis et al., 2019: 806; Nawrotzki, 2012) – an issue returned to further below and dealt with in Paper IV – left-wing ideological self-placement is linked strongly with pro-environmental attitudes (Birch, 2020; Cruz, 2017; Dunlap et al., 2001; Feygina et al., 2010; Harring et al., 2017; Hoffarth and Hodson, 2016; McCright et al., 2016; Mostafa, 2016; Panarello, 2021; Smith et al., 2017), and union members tend to be more left-leaning (Iversen and Soskice, 2015). Indeed, while sometimes argued to supplant more traditional value cleavages (Dolezal, 2010: 541), notably as discussed above to the detriment of 'traditional movements' such as unions (Offe, 1985a: 835, 857) – environmental issues often align with the left-right ideological dimension as they tend to raise conflicting views concerning the organization of production and the value of 'free private enterprise' (Hampton, 2015; Korpi, 2019: 158; Malm, 2014, 2018; McCright et al., 2016).¹⁴ Accordingly, right-wing views such as a free-market ideology are found repeatedly to be important determinants of climate change scepticism or denial (Heath and Gifford, 2006; Hornsey et al., 2016; Jylhä et al., 2020; Rossen et al., 2015), particularly among white men (Ballew et al., 2020; McCright and Dunlap, 2011). With regards to the association between conservatism and environmentalism, Dietz et al. note:

Such results may indicate that environmentalism is perceived as contradicting conservative values by suggesting a move away from traditional patterns of behavior, and it may also be that conservative value items tap a general value frame that favors the market over government intervention and thus is resistant to government regulation that usually accompanies environmental policy. (Dietz et al., 2005: 360)

Relatedly, research finds that 'system justification' – a willingness to protect the status quo underpinned by a perception of the current

¹⁴ Hoffarth and Hodson observe in a review: 'associations between left-vs-right wing adherence and climate change [sic] represent moderate-to-large effects in psychological terms [...] with few psychological effects approaching this magnitude' (Hoffarth and Hodson, 2016: 41).

system as fair, legitimate, beneficial, and stable – is associated with greater denial of environmental realities and less commitment to proenvironmental action (Feygina et al., 2010; Goldsmith et al., 2013; Jylhä and Akrami, 2015). One study concludes: 'the motivation to see industrial corporations and market-based practices [...] as legitimate and purely benign may inhibit a realistic assessment of the seriousness of the impending disaster and the inadequacy of current reactions to this problem' (Feygina et al., 2010: 327). This again relates to the question of union members' attitudes towards class and employment relations. While varying across different types of unions (Arndt, 2018), there is a strong general tendency for union members to be more leftleaning and critical towards the idea of an unregulated market economy, or indeed capitalism as such (Charlwood, 2002; Ebbinghaus et al., 2011; Iversen and Soskice, 2015; Trentini, 2022; Wright, 1997; Rennwald and Pontusson, 2021; Sánchez-Mosquera, 2023). 15 Paper III therefore hypothesizes a positive membership effect on support for environmental protection (H_{1a}), an effect which further is proposed to be mediated by self-placement to the left of the ideological spectrum (H1_b).

The tendency for union members to identify to the left of the political spectrum is often attributed to class-based mechanisms such as self-interest in economic redistribution (Iversen and Soskice, 2015) and social protection against various life-course or labour market-related risks (Engler and Voigt, 2023; Jensen, 2012a; Korpi, 2006) – more broadly representing a countermovement against the commodification of labour (Dukes and Streeck, 2023; Esping-Andersen, 1990: 37, 44; Polanyi, 2001). There may be commonalities or overlaps between such class-based claims for social protection on the one hand, and environmental concerns on the other (Fraser, 2014, 2017; Fritz and Koch, 2019: 13; Gough et al., 2008; Harring and Sohlberg, 2017: 291;

¹⁵ With regard to variation across unions and occupational groups, a Swedish study finds a declining 'effect' across time of union membership on left partisanship, which is related partly to structural/compositional labour market changes (Arundhati Ray and Pontusson, 2023).

¹⁶ Thus, in the extent to which union members' political orientation stems from an interest in social protection, it may be rooted materially in 'diverging socio-economic situations and interests following the class structure' whereby people 'in different class positions sympathize with policies that benefit them economically' (Bengtsson et al., 2013: 710).

Spies-Butcher and Stebbing, 2016: 743). One study finds indeed that people who support expanded social policy are more likely also to support environmental protection (Spies-Butcher and Stebbing, 2016: 752). This, however, is not to overlook the complex tensions between the two broad policy domains (Gugushvili and Otto, 2023: 7; Jakobsson et al., 2018; Koch and Fritz, 2014; Otto and Gugushvili, 2020; Satheesh, 2021: 218; Spies-Butcher and Stebbing, 2016). Jakobsson et al. (2018: 316) conclude an extensive analysis:

Income redistribution is mainly a domestic issue and may yield a direct benefit to an individual whilst the benefits from paying for the environment such as carbon tax can extend beyond the national boundary and to future generations. Therefore, we cannot expect that positive attitudes towards income redistribution will enhance the willingness to pay for policies that benefit the environment. (Jakobsson et al., 2018: 328)

As efforts to address environmental degradation can impose costs in the short run for the realization of long-term benefits 'decades and sometimes centuries later' (Lazarus, 2008: 1153), the well-established link between ideological orientation and pro-environmentalism may thus go beyond immediate policy overlaps rooted in self-interest. Notably in this regard, self-identification to the left of the political spectrum tends also to be associated with a more general underlying value orientation that favours collective societal interests above what is referred to as 'self-enhancement' (Caprara et al., 2006; Harring et al., 2017: 6; Kilburn, 2009). ¹⁷ The importance of such a value dimension is highlighted in an extensive literature demonstrating that self-transcendence, or collectivistic values, are associated positively with proenvironmental attitudes and behaviour, whereas individualism and self-enhancement conversely tend to have a negative effect (Dietz et al., 2002, 2005: 358; Guy et al., 2014; Kahan et al., 2007; Liobikienė and Juknys, 2016; Schultz and Zelezny, 1998; Stern and Dietz, 1994).

_

¹⁷ Self-transcendence constitutes one pole (opposite to self-enhancement) in the interest facet in Schwartz' (1992) theory of basic personal values, covering universalism and benevolence to capture 'a desire to care for others, as opposed to a desire to control or to achieve superior social status over them' (Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012: 687). Such basic personal values refer to '(a) concepts or beliefs, (b) about desirable end states or behaviors, (c) that transcend specific situations, (d) guide selection or evaluation of behavior and events, and (e) are ordered by relative importance' (Schwartz and Bilsky, 1987: 551). Values are thus distinct from attitudes, which are more specific (Dietz et al., 2005: 346).

Relating back to the previous discussion about the provision of collective goods and connecting with the themes of selection versus transformative effects, this is important in relation to present purposes, as there are reasons to expect union members generally to be more collectivistically inclined, or solidaristic, than their non-organized counterparts (Deery and Walsh, 1999; Fiorito, 1992; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017; Rosetti, 2019). A large literature suggest indeed that union members tend either to be predisposed to be, or can become more willing to, embrace policies that transcend their immediate or short-term self-interest (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Booth et al., 2017; Checchi et al., 2010; Crouch, 2017: 53; Donnelly, 2016; Fiorito, 1992; Fiorito et al., 2015; Fiorito and Padavic, 2022a, 2022b; Keyes et al., 2023; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017; Rosetti, 2019; Zullo, 2011).

In a notable contribution spanning across a large range of European countries, Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent (2012) find a significant and non-negligible positive association between union membership and values involving a sense of caring for others ('self-transcendence') (Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012: 698). Emphasizing a selection mechanism due to considerations of self-interest versus societal interests being involved in the decision to unionize – i.e., in relation to the possibility to free ride – the same study concludes: 'the positive influence of self-transcendence is in line with the idea that societal interests also play a significant role in the membership decision' (Kirmanoğlu and Baslevent, 2012: 700).18 Somewhat similarly, Mosimann and Pontusson (2017) demonstrate that union membership is associated positively with support for economic redistribution, and importantly that this effect is of greater magnitude among high-wage earners. Going beyond the selection mechanism invoked by Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent (2012), Mosimann and Pontusson argue that the fact that the membership effect on support for economic redistribution is more sizeable in the group for which such a policy conflicts with narrow self-interest indicates that unions (notably some more than others) promote 'other-

¹⁸ Although fairly consistent, this tendency is likely to be less prevalent in contexts with stronger selective incentives to unionize and where membership thus to a higher extent can be driven by narrow self-interest (Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017: 457; Prytz and Berglund, 2023: 18; Vestin and Vulkan, 2022).

regarding support', and that such norms are internalized by members – reflected in what is referred to as a 'solidarity effect' (Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017: 479). Elsewhere Pontusson argues in this connection that mechanisms of selection and transformation (in his terminology 'socialization') must not be mutually exclusive: 'Assuming that individuals tend to conform to the attitudes of other members [...] one might plausibly argue that unions nurture egalitarianism precisely because they attract individuals with egalitarian attitudes' (Pontusson, 2013: 818). Whether due to selection or transformative mechanisms, there is thus some cause to expect union members generally to be more willing than non-members to embrace policies that transcend their immediate short-term self-interests, and such a 'solidarity logic' may extend from traditional labour agendas such as economic redistribution to underpin a positive membership effect on support for environmental protection. This line of reasoning is pursued variously in Papers III and IV.

Beyond ideological orientation and collectivistic values, there is also a potential insider status associated with union membership, reflected in such factors as job security and stronger labour market attachment (Lindbeck and Snower, 1986; Palier and Thelen, 2010; Visser, 2002). While noting that a binary distinction between labour market insiders and outsiders may lack sufficient nuance, Gordon defines outsiders as labour market participants who are 'excluded from stable, secure, full-time employment', among which are included the currently unemployed and those working under fixed-term contracts or involuntarily part-time (Gordon, 2015: 80). Conversely, insiders are workers with protected jobs, sufficiently so as 'not to feel significantly threatened by unemployment' (Rueda et al., 2015: 91).

Although not certain, such an insider status could lead to members being more supportive than non-members of environmental protection, particularly in the extent to which environmental protection raises concerns for job loss, or is perceived by outsiders as a barrier to employment (Panarello, 2021; Rueda, 2005; Scruggs and Benegal, 2012; cf. Emmenegger, 2009). A growing literature demonstrates indeed that employment status and labour market risk tend to influence political preferences and voting (Bergman, 2022; Burgoon and Dekker, 2010; Emmenegger et al., 2015; Kweon, 2018; Marx, 2014; Mughan and Lacy, 2002; cf. Ahrens, 2023). While on balance supporting the premise of an insider status associated with union membership,

empirical evidence appears mixed, depending for example upon which output measure is used (Anderson and Pontusson, 2007; Arundhati Ray and Pontusson, 2023: 22; Bender and Sloane, 1999; Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013; Hassel, 2015; Hoque et al., 2017; Näswall and De Witte, 2003; Prytz and Berglund, 2023; Sánchez-Mosquera, 2023; Sverke and Hellgren, 2001). Neither Furåker and Bengtsson (2013) nor Sverke and Hellgren (2001: 174) find significant associations between union membership and job security, and Hoque et al., (2017: 45) identify no effect on job security of union voice at the workplace level. Anderson and Pontusson do find that union members feel more secure in their current job than non-members, while at the same time being more negative in terms of their prospects on the labour market in the case of job loss (Anderson and Pontusson, 2007: 220-1; see also Mughan and Lacy, 2002: 523). Moreover, and crucially; workers' perceptions of such prospects, as well as the anxieties associated with job loss, vary substantially cross-nationally (Anderson and Pontusson, 2007; Kalleberg, 2009: 15) in ways that are likely to relate partly to the strength of trade unions and industrial relations institutions (Bender, 2023; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Gordon, 2015; Kalleberg, 2018). Not least in the extent to which concerns for job loss and economic insecurity inform attitudes towards environmental protection, there are thus good reasons to consider union members' environmental attitudes on an international comparative basis.

Collective bargaining and a just transition

In a comparative perspective, strong trade unions contribute to a number of material conditions under which members — and potentially non-members as well — may be more likely to prioritize broader collective interests, such as environmental protection, above immediate sectional interests (Bender, 2023; Bledow and Busemeyer, 2021: 271; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Esser and Olsen, 2012; Gordon, 2015: 90;

Jensen, 2012b).¹⁹ This issue is pursued particularly in Paper III. As an illustrative example of the dynamics involved, Hampton finds reluctance among UK unions towards environmental regulations and observes:

These anxieties, articulated in sectional terms within the UK trade union movement, cannot be dismissed lightly, not least because they are made in the context where the market dominates and where government safety nets for displaced workers are extremely limited or non-existent. (Hampton, 2015: 64 emphasis added)

This conclusion resonates with the notion of a 'just transition', an umbrella term central to environmental union debates that brings together a diverse range of approaches highlighting the importance of a 'fair' distribution of the costs and benefits of environmental policies, such as through interventions that provide workers with social protection and opportunities for re-skilling (Bell, 2020; Hampton, 2015: 70-1; Stevis, 2023; Stevis and Felli, 2015; Tomassetti, 2020). The just transition concept has its roots in a neoliberal North American context which since the 1970s has seen the dismantling of an 'already modest social welfare state' (Stevis, 2023: 6; see also Hampton, 2015: 68–70). Consequently, while a neo-liberal trajectory is observed across most if not all so-called developed economies (Baccaro and Howell, 2017), Stevis notes that just transition policies in liberal market economies differ substantially from those in relatively more coordinated capitalist societies 'in which many of the social welfare demands of explicit just transition are already policy [...]' (Stevis, 2023: 6). A potentially fundamental factor in this connection is the level of de-commodification of labour, i.e., 'the degree to which individuals, or families, can uphold a socially acceptable standard of living independently of market participation' (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 37).

-

¹⁹ The mechanisms underlying potential cross-national variation in the membership effect on support for environmental protection are likely to pertain to country-differences both in terms of membership composition (who selects into unions and why), and to whether and how unions in turn shape the policy preferences of their members (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Donnelly, 2016; Kim and Margalit, 2017; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2022; Rosetti, 2019). Acknowledging these complexities, the current account does not purport to be exhaustive, but focuses on a few potentially significant mechanisms when considering cross-national variation in the association between union membership and support for environmental protection.

Relating back to the previous discussion about political manifestations of class conflict, such de-commodifying policies, most notably unemployment compensation, tend to be promoted strongly by unions and consequently to be more extensive in contexts where unions are in a better position to implement their policy agendas, as proxied for example by union density and collective bargaining coverage (Bender, 2023; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Gordon, 2015; Jensen, 2012b; but see Cronert and Forsén, 2023). Esping-Andersen notes: 'There are certain, albeit quite few, principles of social policy common to virtually all kinds of labor movements. One is clearly de-commodification from the whip of the market place' (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 109; also see Streeck and Hassel, 2003: 356).

A principal reason for why unions advocate such policies has to do with an interest in overcoming downward pressures on wages and working conditions that follow from the atomization of workers when treated as 'pure' commodities (Dukes and Streeck, 2023: 92; Rothstein, 1998: 288).20 Indeed, the de-commodification of labour has been referred to as 'the alpha and omega of the unity and solidarity required for labour-movement development' (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 37). It is prudent to note in this context that many of the policies encompassed by the concept of de-commodification tend not completely to eliminate the commodity form of labour but to reduce the degree of market dependence by allowing individuals – if only temporarily – to withdraw from paid work in a way they would not otherwise have done (Furåker, 2005: 36, 99, 113).²¹ Moreover, and importantly in this context, decommodification and employment tend to be pursued as complementarities rather than opposites, whereby high employment rates underpinned for example by active labour market policies (ALMPs) and life-

_

²⁰ 'If unions abandon workers when the demand for their labor power declines, the workers, now deprived of their means of existence, will be liable to start underbidding the union-set price for labor power. This leads to a situation in which capitalists are able to get labor power at a price below that which the unions have decided upon, which is to say the unions no longer control the supply of labor power. There is simply no greater threat to union strength or working-class mobilization, than this' (Rothstein, 1998: 288).

²¹ Unemployment benefits and other social protections are key components in this respect by raising the reservation wage, the result of which being that an unemployed worker – while still on the labour market and hence ultimately remaining 'commodified' – is less compelled to accept *any* job offer (Esping-Andersen, 2000: 354).

long learning institutions are combined with strong safety nets that include generous pension systems and high (while time-limited) unemployment replacement rates (Bender, 2023; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Esping-Andersen, 1990: 129-133; Huo et al., 2008: 17). There is hence a complex blend, or dialectic (Esping-Andersen, 2000: 356), of 'productive' social investment policies (Morel et al., 2011) aimed at activation on the one hand – which may indeed be regarded as forms of 'recommodification' (De la Porte and Jacobsson, 2011: 142; Furåker, 2005: 113; Holden, 2003) – and more passive social protection policies on the other hand, which to varying extent and again at least for a shorter period of time can be seen as oriented towards the 'de-commodification' of labour. The implications of such policies on workers' policy preferences and priorities can potentially be quite transformative, echoing the discussion further above regarding the transfer of distributive struggle from the market towards the political sphere. Under the context of weak or non-existent de-commodification, immediate economic interests may be more likely to prevail at the cost of longerterm agendas, including efforts to protect the environment: 'With no recourse to property, and no state to which human needs can be directed, the market becomes to the worker a prison within which it is imperative to behave as a commodity in order to survive' (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 36).

Empirically, Berglund et al. (2014) conclude an analysis that the negative feelings associated with fear of job loss 'can be counteracted, especially by good opportunities in the labour market but also to some extent by income compensation in the case of unemployment' (Berglund et al., 2014: 180). Relatedly, research shows that workers' labour market security – i.e., the perceived prospects of finding an equivalent job in the case of job loss – is more prevalent in countries with stronger active labour market policies (ALMPs), and generous unemployment compensation is demonstrated to reduce workers' worries about income loss associated with unemployment (Anderson and Pontusson, 2007: 221, 228). While ALMPs and similar life-long learning institutions, including re-training and other qualitative adjustment mechanisms (Bergström, 2019; Eurofound, 2018a), hence may offset the fear of job loss by augmenting the perceived possibilities of finding other equivalent employment opportunities, unemployment benefits can cushion against the risk of income loss (Berglund et al., 2014; Kweon, 2018). Again, both sets of policies – that is, ALMPs and unemployment compensation – tend to be promoted by unions (Bender, 2023; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Gordon, 2015; Kalleberg, 2018: 58). Paper III thus suggests the hypothesis (H2) that workers in countries with stronger unions and industrial relations institutions may be more willing to embrace environmental protection, even – or perhaps particularly – when such measures threaten jobs and growth.

A further potentially significant comparative factor to consider in this connection – explored in Paper IV – is the level of economic development, or 'affluence' (Gugushvili and Otto, 2023: 4; Inglehart, 1995; Mejia, 2020; Parks and Timmons Roberts, 2006; Timmons Roberts et al., 2003; Valizade et al., 2023). Not least as left ideological orientation tends to be a stronger determinant of pro-environmentalism in more affluent countries (Lewis et al., 2019: 806; Nawrotzki, 2012), the question is whether the positive membership effect extends beyond the advanced capitalist economies.

Economic development, pro-environmentalism, and the membership effect

While demonstrated in a range of comprehensive analyses to be an important determinant of environmental attitudes and policy preferences, the impact of political orientation also varies across countries (Birch, 2020; Lewis et al., 2019; Nawrotzki, 2012). These findings can hold important consequences when considering contextual variation in the membership effect on support for environmental protection, as ideological orientation is a key mediating variable proposed above. In short, given that members' higher probability for supporting environmental protection is argued partially to run through leftist ideological orientation, the question is whether the membership effect extends beyond contexts in which pro-environmentalism is driven less by such an orientation. As noted, one moderating contextual factor identified in this connection is the level economic development: the tendency is more prevalent in the so-called developed capitalist economies for leftleaning individuals to be more pro-environmentally inclined than those identifying to the right (Lewis et al., 2019; Nawrotzki, 2012). Also more broadly, the level of 'affluence' is one of the most central comparative elements in macro-sociological debates concerning international variation in environmental attitudes (Dunlap and Mertig, 1995; Fairbrother, 2013; Franzen and Meyer, 2009; Givens and Jorgenson, 2011; Inglehart, 1995; Marquart-Pyatt, 2012; Summers and VanHeuvelen, 2017). There are thus good reasons briefly to survey such debates before returning to the issue of potential cross-national variation in the membership effect on support for environmental protection, as addressed in Paper IV.

Inglehart's (1971, 1995, 2018) widely influential theory of postmaterial value change is a useful point of departure in this connection. The theory proposes that economic growth and modernization usher in an extensive cultural value shift wherein freedom and 'quality of life' – referred to as post-materialism – replaces an emphasis on material security and standard of living. While the implications of the theory for environmental attitudes are not unequivocal (Inglehart, 1995), pro-environmentalism tends to be construed as part of a set of post-materialist concerns, the salience of which is argued to increase as societies develop economically. Empirically, the proposition that more affluent societies see stronger concern and public support for the environment has been corroborated in some research (e.g., Franzen and Meyer, 2009). On balance however, while varying depending upon which specific output measure is utilized, evidence appears to be stronger in support for the opposite pattern: public concern and support for environmental protection tends to be higher in economically poorer countries (Dunlap and Mertig, 1995; Dunlap and York, 2008; Givens and Jorgenson, 2011; Jorgenson, 2009; Lo and Chow, 2015; Mostafa, 2016). Dunlap and York conclude an important contribution:

responses to the items that provide the most direct and unambiguous indicators of *personal* willingness to make economic sacrifices on behalf of environmental protection [...] are negatively related to national affluence, exactly the opposite of what both the theory of postmaterialist values and conventional wisdom predict. (Dunlap and York, 2008: 549)

A crucial and frequently invoked explanation for such a pattern has to do with the greater exposure of less economically developed countries to environmental degradation, including a higher vulnerability to climate change (Bush and Clayton, 2023; Givens et al., 2019; Givens and

Jorgenson, 2011; Inglehart, 1995; Iskander and Lowe, 2020: 123; Mejia, 2020; Parks and Timmons Roberts, 2006; Rice, 2007, 2009). Public support for environmental protection may thus be more prevalent in less developed economies, in part due to the severity of environmental threats and a more immediate connection between self-interest and environmental protection. Bush and Clayton (2023: 595) argue indeed that the perceived benefits of policies addressing climate change are higher in less developed economies, whereas the perceived costs conversely are lower. In line with these conclusions, the concept of an 'environmentalism of the poor' (Martínez-Alier, 1995) is advanced as an alternative to post-materialism and adjacent modernization theories, highlighting 'the material and social interest in the environment as a livelihood source for marginalized groups in rural areas in the global South' (Scheidel et al., 2020: 3).

Consequently, returning to the question of union membership and environmental policy support, one line of reasoning suggests that as such higher levels of environmental degradation tend also to characterize many work environments in less economically developed contexts, for example in terms of industrial pollution (Bell, 2020: 146), workers in such contexts have vested interests in ameliorating environmental conditions that may be addressed through unionization. Moreover, while contextually bound extant research tends consistently to demonstrate a positive membership effect on pro-environmental attitudes (Chen, 2017; Kojola et al., 2014; Vachon and Brecher, 2016), which motivates positing such an effect as a baseline hypothesis. The argument that the positive membership effect on environmental policy support extends beyond the advanced economies is hence evaluated empirically in a hypothesis (H1) in Paper IV.

However, an alternative line of reasoning suggests that while the potentially higher levels of support for environmental protection in less affluent nations is likely to apply also to union members, the prevalence of a positive membership effect is less certain. Stronger public support in connection with less (or no) association with left ideological orientation (Birch, 2020; Lewis et al., 2019) could indeed leave less space for a positive membership effect, particularly if such an effect is mediated by ideology. Conversely, in more affluent nations, beyond the salience of ideological divisions, a positive membership effect may also be attributed partly to the mechanism considered above whereby broader

and more long-term interests - such as issues of environmental protection within the context of relatively less extensive immediate environmental threats – are embraced more strongly by unions and their members when conditions are more favourable pertaining to other union concerns (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Kojola et al., 2014; Gordon, 2015). While there is substantial variation across the developed economies, in a broader geographical scope such economies tend to see relatively stronger industrial relations institutions and more favourable labour market conditions (Kalleberg, 2009: 15, 2018: 18; Shin et al., 2023; Silver, 2003; Valizade et al., 2023). Such more favourable macro-economic, institutional, and labour market conditions may increase the probability in more affluent countries of a positive union membership effect on environmental policy support. These arguments are examined empirically in Paper IV, where a second hypothesis (H2) posits that the membership effect on support for environmental spending is significantly more positive in the advanced economies.

To conclude thus far, the preceding literature review sets out the conceptual underpinnings of this dissertation, further locating Papers I and II within the overarching theme of conflict between management and workers, and Papers III and IV within the theme of immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. While not always considered explicitly in the research papers a number of additional issues run through this overview, including the provision of collective goods, selection versus transformative mechanisms with regards to union effects, and workers pursuit of interests in the industrial sphere versus the political sphere. The following chapter describes the data and methods utilized within the research papers, after which the findings of the papers are summarized briefly in Chapter 4. Chapter 5 concludes by discussing the findings when taken together, also considering limitations and directions for future research.

3 Data and methods

To return to the basic premise of this dissertation, informed by the questions of why workers unionize and what happens when they do, the aim is to study trade union effects on perceptions and attitudes through the lens of two overarching themes: conflict between management and workers; and tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. The first two research papers address the theme of conflict between management and workers. Paper I studies how perceptions of conflict between management and workers relate to trade union membership, trade union density, and the institutionalization of employment relations (collective bargaining coverage, collective bargaining centralization, and policy concertation). Paper II examines trade unions as voice mechanisms through which workers collectively may reduce job demands and increase such job resources as job autonomy, job control, and training. Papers III and IV examine in turn a set of questions pertaining to the theme of immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas, studying in a comparative perspective trade union members' support for environmental protection. Paper III is focused on the European context whereas Paper IV extends the geographical scope to cover a more diverse set of countries, notably in terms of the level of economic development and environmental degradation.

The overall analytical approach, as well as the data and methods utilized in each paper, is described briefly below, followed by a presentation of the key variables. For more detailed information about the methods, data, and variables, the reader is referred to the specific papers.

Analytical approach and data

The preceding literature review highlights in various ways the value in considering 'union effects' on several analytical levels simultaneously. As an example (taken from Paper III), comparing the environmental attitudes of a union member with those of a non-member, the

likelihood that the union member will be relatively more pro-environmentally inclined than the non-member may depend in part upon such institutional country-level characteristics as the level of collective bargaining coverage. Technically, the combination of the two levels involved – individuals and countries – introduces a set of issues pertaining to the dependency between observations which standard regression models are not well-equipped to deal with (Hox et al., 2017: 114). In this regard, multi-level analysis (MLA) (Finch et al., 2014; Hox et al., 2017) is an appropriate statistical method. MLA provides some analytical tools to account for the hierarchical data structure, enabling the specification of random country-level effects in terms both of intercepts (or 'baselines') and slopes (i.e., the coefficients of individual-level variables). Returning to the example above, bargaining coverage may potentially affect country-variation in terms both of overall levels of public support for environmental protection (i.e., the baseline, or intercept) and the membership effect (i.e., the 'membership slope'), the latter through what is referred to as a cross-level interaction, which in this case is an interaction between a variable at the country level and a variable at the individual level. Partly for these reasons, the MLA approach is ideally suited for attending to questions concerning 'the relationship between individuals and the social contexts in which they live' (Hox et al., 2017: 1; also see Diez-Roux, 1998), a fundamentally sociological issue inherent to the collective logic of trade unionism informing this thesis.

Paper I relies on 2009 data from the International Social Survey Programme Social Inequality module (ISSP, 2017), at the time the most recent ISSP iteration covering the key variables addressed (notably the dependent variable). After listwise deletion, the sample comprises 16822 currently employed individuals nested across 31 countries.²² The MLA approach is instrumental for addressing the research questions through the examination of (1) the effect on conflict perceptions of individual-level trade union membership; (2) whether such an effect varies across countries depending upon levels of union density and the

²² The sample used also encompasses those who are self-employed. Supplementary analyses (not shown) reveal that the findings hold when the self-employed are excluded from the analyses.

institutionalization of employment relations, and (3) whether the effects of those contextual variables apply equally to members and non-members. The analytical approach offers a way of elucidating empirically the collective logic of trade unionism by distinguishing between effects at the individual level and the contextual level.

Paper II draws on data from the most recent Family, Work and Well-Being wave of the European Social Survey (ESS Round 5, 2010), which covers a wide range of work-related variables suitable in the operationalization of job demands, job resources and collective voice. The utilized sample comprises only those who are currently employed (selfemployed are omitted from the sample), after listwise deletion amounting to 16406 individuals across 27 European countries. While focus of the study is not country-comparative, and the pattern of hierarchical clustering is therefore not substantively important, MLA is utilized in order to control for the diversity of the countries covered in the analyses. The possibility for varying effects of collective voice on job demands and job resources across contexts is addressed by including random slopes for collective voice. The cross-sectional data structure limits the possibilities empirically to substantiate the proposed causal mechanisms, but the observed associations provide meaningful indicators in relation to the theoretical argument about the impact of collective voice on job demands, job resources, and the covariation of demands and resources.

Paper III uses 2017 data from the European Values Study (EVS, 2020), analyzing a sample of currently employed individuals (n=15351) across 22 European countries. The EVS offers a recent dataset covering key variables across a European sample of countries, importantly for which data are available on the contextual variables of interest. The MLA approach makes it possible to study whether the membership effect on support for environmental protection varies cross-nationally between institutional contexts (through cross-level interaction) and, crucially, whether the effects of the institutional characteristics, i.e., bargaining coverage and union density, extend to non-

²³ The sample used encompasses those who are self-employed. Supplementary analyses (not shown) reveal that the core findings hold when the self-employed are excluded from the analyses.

members as well. Further, causal mediation analysis (Tingley et al., 2014) is employed to examine the extent to which the membership effect is mediated by ideological orientation. Additionally, interaction terms between occupational category and union membership are modelled in order to explore whether the membership effect varies across occupational groups (e.g., manufacturing and service work).

Paper IV builds on Paper III by extending the geographical scope beyond Europe, drawing on 2016 data from the most recent International Social Survey Programme 'Role of Government Module' (ISSP Research Group, 2018) to study international variation in the effects of trade union membership on support for government spending on environmental protection. Besides offering a more diverse set of countries as compared to Paper III, an advantage with the dataset is the availability of several additional variables measuring support for other policy areas, enabling the supplementary analyses that are reported in the paper. After listwise deletion, the sample used comprises 36086 individuals nested across 32 countries.24 MLA provides a suitable means with which systematically to explore variation in the membership effect through cross-level interactions between the contextual variables which capture variation in affluence, environmental performance, and the strength of active labour market policies – and individual-level union membership.

Operationalization of key variables

Dependent variables

Paper I measures **perceptions of conflict between management and workers** through the following question in the ISSP: 'In all

²⁴ As part of the grey areas of the informal sector not least in developing economies (Shin et al., 2023), self-employed (and unemployed) are included in the sample used, but supplementary analyses (not shown) reveal that the key results hold when self-employed are excluded.

countries, there are differences or even conflicts between different social groups. In your opinion, in [country] how much conflict is there between management and workers?'. The variable distinguishes between those who perceive 'Very strong conflicts'/'Strong conflicts' (1) and those who perceive 'not very strong conflicts/'no conflicts' (0) (see Paper I for information about additional sensitivity analyses). The variable is used by Edlund and Lindh (2015) as part of a broader composite measure of social class conflict. Notably, as demonstrated in a number of supplementary analyses within Paper I, as it pertains to union effects it proves useful to treat the variable in isolation.

In Paper II, **job demands** are measured via responses to the following statement: 'My job requires that I work very hard'. The variable distinguishes between those who 'agree strongly' (1) and those who 'agree'/'neither agree nor disagree'/'disagree'/'disagree strongly' (0). Several sensitivity tests evaluate alternative coding procedures and generate similar outcomes with regards to the effects of collective voice (see Paper II for further details). **Job resources** are operationalized in the same paper through a range of discrete measures regarding workers' perceptions of job autonomy, job control, and the provision of employer-funded training.

Paper III looks at the effect of trade union membership on the willingness to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs. The dependent variable is based on a survey question in the EVS which prompts respondents to choose which of the following closest resembles their own view: 'Protecting the environment [is a] priority, even if slower economic growth and loss of jobs' (coded as 1); 'Economic growth and creating jobs [is a] priority, even if environment suffers' (coded as 0). The variable builds on an explicit tradeoff between growth and jobs on the one hand (the compounding of the two potentially being suboptimal), and environmental protection on the other, hence while abstract arguably providing a strong test of members' commitment to environmental agendas (see Birch, 2020: 703).

Paper IV examines union members' preferences concerning more concrete solutions at the policy level by studying **support for government spending on the environment**, based on a survey question which asks whether respondents would like to see more or less government spending on the environment. Those answering 'spend much more'/'spend more' are coded as 1 and distinguished from those answering 'spend the same as now'/'spend less'/'spend much less' (0).

It may be noted that Papers III and IV examine variables measuring support for environmental protection in which the environment is defined broadly. As noted by Chen (2017: 767), such items do not capture preferences for specific environmental issues, a potential drawback being that respondents are able express support in an abstract sense for environmental protection, while opposing measures concerning particular areas of environmental degradation (see also Kangas, 1997 for an insightful and more general treatment of some issues involved in using abstract versus more specific measures). Equally, the level of abstraction in terms of the language used arguably facilitates international comparison across contexts varying in the salience of particular environmental issues.

Independent variables

Papers I, III, and IV examine trade union members' perceptions, attitudes, and policy preferences. The **union membership** variable is binary, distinguishing between current members (1) and non-members (0). Given that the meaning and implications of union membership may vary across different types of unions, for example such that members of business unions may be less likely to embrace broader political agendas (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2022), certain limitations follow from using a binary membership-variable. To proxy variations across union types, the analyses include various interaction terms (either as robustness checks or in the models shown), between union membership and occupational variables, and between union membership and contextual variables.

Paper II operationalizes **collective voice** as trade union influence at the workplace level, based on the question: 'How much influence would you say that trade unions at your workplace generally have over decisions that affect your working conditions and practices?' The variable distinguishes between 'quite a lot of influence'/'a great deal of influence' (coded as 1) and 'no trade unions/trade union members at workplace'/'not much or no union influence'/'some union influence'

(coded as o). Several sensitivity analyses using alternative coding procedures are conducted and reported in the paper.

Reflecting profound predispositions that inform attitudes and preferences towards more specific issues and policies (Brooks and Svallfors, 2010: 203), **ideological orientation** is proposed in Paper III as a key mediating variable between union membership and support for environmental protection. As is common, ideological self-placement is measured on a scale from 0 to 10, a higher value meaning more to the left (the original scale is reversed). Harring et al. note that moving leftwards on the scale reflects 'enhanced support for the active, nonneutral state, an increasingly regulated market, and universal welfare politics. Conversely, preferences for a passive, neutral state, an unregulated market, and limited social policy are located on the right-hand side' (Harring et al., 2017: 3). Moreover, the left-right scale is linked with a value dimension distinguishing between self-enhancement (right) and self-transcendence (left) (Caprara et al., 2006; Kilburn, 2009; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012).

At the contextual level the following key independent variables are used. Trade union density is an important country-level variable in Paper I, and the measure is also used in Paper III. Net union density data – i.e., trade union membership as share of the employed (Palm, 2017: 49; Traxler et al., 2001: 80) – is taken from the database on Institutional Characteristics of Trade Unions, Wage Setting, State Intervention and Social Pacts (ICTWSS) (Visser, 2019). Although there are widely acknowledged limitations (Cronert and Forsén, 2023; Gordon, 2015: 82; Metten, 2021; Refslund and Arnholtz, 2022: 1969; Rego and Espírito-Santo, 2023) for example pertaining to the masking of yellow unions and variation across union identities more broadly (Vernon, 2006: 191) – union density is an important indicator of structural differences between unions, used commonly as a proxy for union power and influence (Crouch, 2017: 54; Dixon et al., 2013; Esser and Olsen, 2012; Gordon, 2015: 89; Hipp and Givan, 2015: 353; Jensen, 2012b: 229; Kjellberg, 1983; Korpi, 2019: 198; Lopes et al., 2017: 461; Traxler et al., 2001: 74; Turner et al., 2020: 285; Wallerstein, 1989: 482; Western, 1997: 15). Beyond density, further measures to capture cross-national variation in industrial relations institutions, also taken from the ICTWSS database, are collective bargaining coverage (Papers I and III), collective bargaining centralization (Paper I),

and **policy concertation** (Paper I) – the latter being a categorical variable referring to 'the codetermination of public policy by governments, employer organisations and trade union confederations' (Compston, 2002: 4).

Paper III also examines a country-level indicator of 'Employment security and skills development' (ESSD) developed by Eurofound (2018b: 21, 24). Capturing some of the key elements of a just transition, the variable is a composite measure based on job security, involuntary temporary employment, lifelong learning and use of skills, and unemployment protection coverage. Advantages as well as limitations follow from the use of such a composite measure. While some aspects of ESSD may be more important than others (and their effects thus potentially being masked by the use of an aggregate construct), the combination into an index of the elements included accounts for the possibility that cross-national variation in the relative salience of different components of ESSD yield similar outcomes. Moreover, it may be (and is arguably even likely) that the respective elements of ESSD have less of a mitigating impact when taken in isolation, and that what is important is their combination: univariate items may fail to capture the consequences of what are complementary bundles of active and passive policy programs.

To elevate the analysis and go beyond the advanced capitalist economies, Paper IV utilizes World Systems Theory (Wallerstein, 2004) as a comparative framework. A categorical variable distinguishes between the following world systems positions: core states, semi-periphery states, and periphery states. The categorization of states according to world systems position follows Mejia (2020) and Valizade et al. (2023). **Per capita GDP** is used as an alternative/complementary proxy for the level of affluence. The quality of the environment is operationalized by use of the Ecological Performance Index (EPI) (Hsu et al., 2016; YCELP, 2016). The 2016 version of the EPI ranks national environmental performance based on 20 indicators across two overarching areas: protection of human health and protection of ecosystems. Subcategories measured in the index include environmental risk exposure, air quality, and drinking water quality. The breadth of scope in the composite EPI measure arguably facilitates comparison across countries varying in forms of environmental degradation. There are nevertheless also limitations to measuring such

issues at the country-level, within which there may be substantial differences.

4 Summary of the research papers

Paper I: How do union membership, union density and institutionalization affect perceptions of conflict between management and workers?

The paper examines how perceptions of conflict between management and workers relate to trade union membership, country-level trade union density, and the institutionalization of employment relations (collective bargaining coverage, collective bargaining centralization, and policy concertation). Hierarchical multi-level models are fitted to data from the International Social Survey Programme from 2009. Two main hypotheses are tested. According to the first hypothesis, trade unions at each analytical level are associated positively with conflict perceptions, whereas the second hypothesis suggests the inverse pattern. In congruence with the first hypothesis, the empirical results reveal that union members are more likely than their non-organized counterparts to perceive management-worker conflicts, a tendency that is consistent across the countries studied. However, in notable contrast to this positive membership effect at the individual level, public perceptions of management-worker conflict tend (regardless of the individuals' union membership status) to be less prevalent in countries with higher trade union density and with policy concertation – a finding thus aligning with the second hypothesis. Unobserved variation in working conditions is speculated to explain parts of both findings. Implications of the results are discussed in relation to the argument that decreasing levels of industrial conflict tend to follow from the increasing political influence of labour. Important methodological implications of relevance to trade union research more generally are also discussed, with reference to the atomistic fallacy, in relation to which the results highlight the risks involved in drawing certain conclusions from research limited to the individual-level effects of union membership. Indeed, while union members are more likely than non-members to perceive management-worker conflict, such perceptions are less widely held in countries with higher unionization levels, a pattern which suggests the further hypothesis that continuing de-unionization and declining political influence of trade unions may result in more overt management-worker conflict.

Paper II: Integrating collective voice within job demands-resources theory

Focusing on the workplace-level, the paper submits that workers collectively through unions can alter the social relations at work and thereby reduce job demands and extend their autonomy and influence over organizational activities. The aim, which is interdisciplinary, is to demonstrate the usefulness of such insights to the influential job demands-resources (JD-R) theory, which has its roots in occupational psychology. Drawing on insights from the sociology of work, central elements conceived within JD-R theory as job demands (e.g., workload) and job resources (e.g., employee autonomy, control, and training), are construed in the paper as subject of contested terrain. In this context trade union influence, as a collective and independent form of employee voice, is posited as an antecedent of job demands and job resources, representing a causal mechanism through which workers can reduce job demands and increase job resources. To substantiate the theoretical argument, the paper analyses the effects of trade union influence at the workplace level on job demands, job resources, and the covariation of demands and resources. Based on data from the European Social Survey (2010) covering 27 countries, results of multi-level analyses indicate that trade union influence tends to enhance job resources, particularly where job demands are high, although notably without a reduction in job demands. Thereby the results support the argument that JD-R theory can be developed by considering collective voice as an antecedent of job resources. The results are discussed further in connection with debates about the need for interdisciplinary approaches in the study of work and employment relations. In accordance with the interdisciplinary contribution and the aim to open up JD-R debates concerning the role of collective voice, research is encouraged to build on the paper by studying further the impact of collective voice within the JD-R framework, notably pertaining to the effects of voice on other types of job demands.

Paper III: Union membership and the willingness to prioritize environmental protection above growth and jobs: A multi-level analysis covering 22 European countries

The paper offers a study into the association between trade union membership and the willingness to prioritize environmental protection above jobs and economic growth. Contributing to debates about the relationship between trade unions and the environment, the paper develops and examines empirically the hypothesis that union members will tend to be more pro-environmentally inclined than their non-organized counterparts, an effect that is hypothesized to be mediated by ideological orientation. Furthermore, in countries with higher collective bargaining coverage, support for environmental protection is hypothesized to be higher among members and non-members alike. To test these hypotheses, multi-level analyses are fitted to European Values Study data from 2017, covering 22 European countries. The empirical results provide support for the hypotheses by revealing that union members tend to be more pro-environmentally inclined than nonmembers, an effect that is mediated significantly by self-placement to the left of the ideological spectrum. The results show further that while transport and manufacturing workers generally are least willing to prioritize environmental protection, union membership has the strongest positive 'effect' in the same occupational category. Moreover, the paper finds that in countries with higher collective bargaining coverage, members and non-members alike tend to be more pro-environmentally inclined. Implications of these findings are considered in relation to tensions between immediate sectional interests and broader political agendas, and, relatedly, concerning the role of unions in facilitating public support a greener economy. While practical implications in terms of union policy remain to be substantiated more conclusively in further research, the results of the paper indicate that there would be support among members for unions to develop more ambitious environmental agendas, the pursuance of which could constitute a fruitful path towards union renewal.

Paper IV: A world systems analysis of union membership and support for government spending on environmental protection

The paper studies international variation in the association between union membership and support for government spending on environmental protection. Building on Paper III, the study extends the geographical scope to cover a broader international sample with the aim to explore whether the positive membership effect extends beyond the more economically developed contexts covered previously. Key contextual factors addressed are the level of economic development and ecological performance. Two hypotheses are developed and examined empirically. According to a first baseline hypothesis, the positive membership effect extends beyond the affluent economies, whereas the second hypothesis proposes that beyond such contexts, higher levels of environmental degradation and stronger public support for environmental protection leaves less space for a positive membership effect. In accordance with the second hypothesis, the empirical results reveal an intriguing empirical puzzle: while public support for environmental spending is substantially higher in less affluent countries, which tend to be subject to more extensive environmental threats, the reverse holds for the membership effect on environmental spending support which is significantly more positive in more affluent countries. The membership effect on support for environmental spending tends thus to be most positive in countries where public support for such spending is lower. Implications of the results are discussed by considering the notion of a solidarity effect – whereby union membership is associated with a higher propensity to support policies that transcend narrow self-interest – and, relatedly, in terms of the prospects for developing union cooperation and networks to address the major collective action problem of global environmental degradation.

5 Discussion

Why do workers unionize and what happens when they do? Informed by these longstanding questions, the present thesis analyses trade union effects on public perceptions and attitudes through the lens of two overarching themes: conflict between management and workers; and tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. Based on the analytical premise that an understanding of trade union effects is facilitated by a multi-level design, comparisons are made between union members and their non-organized counterparts, workplaces with and without significant union influence, and countries varying in levels of unionization and strength of industrial relations institutions. To open this discussion on a broad note, the four research papers indicate in various ways that trade unions remain relevant for understanding dynamics of management-worker conflict on contemporary labour markets (Papers I and II) and in terms of workers' willingness to embrace broader collective interests in connection with a fundamental societal challenge of yet growing concern (Papers III and IV). Throughout the preceding overview, additional links are drawn across the papers regarding a number of reoccurring issues including the provision of collective goods, the distinction between selection and transformative mechanisms with regards to union effects, and workers' pursuit of interests in the industrial sphere versus the political sphere.

In terms of the first overarching theme, novel empirical insights are provided concerning the role of trade unions in relation to public perceptions of conflict between management and workers (Paper I), and as antecedents at the workplace level of employee autonomy and control (Paper II). Speaking to the collective logic of unionism (Furåker and Bengtsson, 2013; Hoque et al., 2017), while a selection mechanism rooted in unfavourable working conditions in part may explain the positive membership effect on perceived management-worker conflict, the negative impact of union density and policy concertation on such perceptions might be attributable partly to union influence augmenting the same conditions (Esser and Olsen, 2012) – an issue explored at the workplace level in Paper II – as well as broader policy issues such as social protection and the de-commodification of labour (Barchiesi,

2014: 242; Bender, 2023; Engler and Voigt, 2023; Esping-Andersen, 1990; Jensen, 2012b).

Thus the negative density effect on conflict perceptions raises questions about the prevalence and nature of management-worker conflict under contexts where unions are stronger and working conditions more favourable, relating back to Hyman's (1989a: 79) observation that 'a union which damps down workers' discontents too far destroys its own reason for existence'. In this respect, building on the insights of Korpi (2019), it would seem apposite to construe such conflict as a multi-dimensional phenomenon that, rather than being subdued, tends under strong labour organization to be manifested differently (Edlund and Lindh, 2015). Without discounting certain tensions along the lines evoked by Hyman, less widely held conflict perceptions may thereby coexist with more pronounced 'partisan attitudes' among the workforce (Svallfors, 2006) and indeed more prevalent 'anti-capitalist class consciousness' (Wright, 1997).

Leading on to the second overarching theme, the contextual conditions that are suggested to contribute towards reducing conflict perceptions are argued in this dissertation also to be important when it comes to understanding workers' attitudes and policy preferences within tensions between immediate sectional interests versus broader social agendas, which run through most union efforts to develop environmental policies (Räthzel and Uzzell, 2019; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020). Drawing together elements relating to the two overarching themes, this dissertation thereby maintains that challenges posed to workers and unions in the context of an ongoing environmental and climate crisis cannot be detached from fundamental issues pertaining to what unions do, be it at the workplace level or in the pursuance of various social and labour market policies.

Indeed, the results reported in Paper III suggest that in spite of the ambiguous relationship between trade unions and the environment (e.g., Obach, 2004; Räthzel and Uzzell, 2011; Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020), strong unions and industrial relations institutions are important in terms of facilitating, and certainly not undermining, public support for environmental protection – although several issues remain to be investigated in more detail (see further below). Moreover, and notably, while the extent of such public support varies substantially across Europe, at the individual level the positive membership effect is

remarkably consistent across the various institutional contexts covered in Paper III. That said, the membership effect on support for environmental protection is not universal, rather in a broader international perspective tending to be most positive in contexts where public support for such protection is lowest (Paper IV). This latter finding merits further research but does align with the logic laid out in this dissertation whereby unionization tends to be associated with a higher willingness to support policies that transcend narrow or immediate self-interest (e.g., Fiorito, 1992; Kirmanoğlu and Başlevent, 2012; Mosimann and Pontusson, 2017). In a broader perspective these insights may be located within debates about the importance within democratic societies of interest groups or civic organizations – in Durkheimian terminology 'secondary groups' situated between the state and the individual - for fostering social engagement and collective goods (Ahlquist and Levi, 2013; Almeida et al., 2023; Dukes and Streeck, 2023: xi; Durkheim, 1997; Jackson and Muellenborn, 2012: 473; Putnam, 2000; Thomas and Pulignano, 2021; Thunqvist, 2022).

Implications, limitations and directions for future research

Attitudes are, so to speak, the "raw material" of politics, a necessary but often unruly material with which the entrepreneurs and implementers of politics are required to work. (Svallfors, 2006: 175)

The findings reported in the research papers of this dissertation suggest a number of practical and theoretical implications. First, while the cross-sectional data structure limits the ability to draw strong causal conclusions, one set of implications concerns the potential ramifications across the advanced capitalist economies of further de-unionization and de-institutionalization of industrial relations (Baccaro and Howell, 2017; Gumbrell-McCormick and Hyman, 2013; Kollmeyer, 2021), a trend related to what Svallfors (2006: 3) refers to as the 'recommodification' of labour. It seems reasonable to assume, but pertinent further to substantiate empirically, that from the continuation of such a development may follow a degradation of workers' job autonomy and control (Paper II), an upswing in more overt management-worker conflict (Paper I), and an exacerbation of the considerable

challenge of legitimizing environmental agendas (Papers III and IV) and thereby managing a 'just transition' (e.g., Bell, 2020; Stevis, 2023).

In connection with the latter point, whether as defenders of status quo or agents of change (Kalt, 2022; Prinz and Pegels, 2018), unions are fundamentally important actors in managing a transition away from the current situation of environmental unsustainability (Barry, 2013) because they are entangled in both 'the causes and the solutions to the climate crisis' (Flanagan and Goods, 2022: 480; see also Obach, 2004: 339). In theory, embodying the latent force of organized labour, unions occupy a unique structural location as environmental actors given the tools at hand to impose constraints on employers' environmentally harmful practices and use of natural resources (Hampton, 2015: 8; Snell and Fairbrother, 2010: 422). The crucial question of whether unions act upon this potential depends in turn upon how they conceive of their role and – not least – members' support (Hampton, 2015: 35). In this context, while it is prudent not to presuppose any immediate link between members' policy preferences and the positions adopted by unions (Bledow, 2021: 38; Müller-Jentsch, 1985; Offe, 1985b), Papers III and IV reveal widespread support among union members for environmental protection, even when such protection comes at the expense of core union concerns relating to growth and jobs. These findings may suggest that unions legitimately could move beyond hedging (Thomas and Doerflinger, 2020) and similar approaches to environmental concerns.

That said, measures to protect the environment, and particularly when framed in opposition to jobs and growth, may constitute examples of broader political agendas with divisive ramifications across a heterogenous membership constituency (Allan and Robinson, 2022; Cha et al., 2018: 470; Cohen, 2011; Refslund and Arnholtz, 2022: 1967). In the context of climate action, a recent study concludes that 'the multiple identities and positionalities of workers can potentially threaten the collective identity of unions by revealing tensions between their understandings of shop floor concerns and those of the greater good' (Allan and Robinson, 2022: 588). Not least as unity of policy preferences can be a source of union power (Lévesque and Murray, 2010: 336; Oude Nijhuis, 2009: 302), unions may thus for pragmatic reasons restrict their agenda from certain issues which 'although clearly related to the life interests of their rank and file, are too difficult to reconcile

with other, equally essential demands and interests' (Offe and Wiesenthal, 1980: 83). A key challenge is hence to identify concrete environmental measures with broad appeal among workers. Arguably one such issue could be work-time reduction, the positive environmental impacts of which are subject of a growing scholarly literature (Antal et al., 2020; Fitzgerald et al., 2018; Gough, 2013; Gunderson, 2019; Lee and Koch, 2023; Nenning et al., 2023: 8; Persson et al., 2022; Schor, 2005). Articulating environmental concerns to reinvigorate such historically prominent union agendas – further aligning with the broader environmental imperative particularly within high-income nations to 'slow down the pace of material production and consumption (Hickel, 2021: 1106) – the positions of unions and their members on work-time reduction and approaches aiming to decelerate the production process (Mueller, 2021: 127–8; Obach, 2004) could be considered in future studies.

Another research path to pursue further pertains to the application of time-series data to address the subjects tackled within the present dissertation in a cross-sectional perspective, such as regarding within-country effects of changing union density levels on conflict perceptions and – linking with the themes of Paper II – whether such conditions at work as autonomy and control mediate the density effect on conflict perceptions. Similarly, longitudinal studies can address limitations of this thesis regarding causal uncertainties pertaining to the effects of union membership on conflict perceptions and environmental attitudes, as well as the effects of workplace-level collective voice, notably on job demands. Yet an issue opened up by this dissertation that merits additional consideration is the varying effects reported respectively in Papers III and IV of collective bargaining coverage on support for environmental protection: while significantly and positively associated with support for environmental protection in Paper III, bargaining coverage has no significant effect on environmental spending support in Paper IV. There are several plausible explanations to this discrepancy that can be examined empirically. One line of inquiry concerns the differences between the types of outcome variable explored: whereas Paper III studies a trade-off between environmental protection and growth and jobs, Paper IV addresses support for government spending on the environment. In terms of support for environmental protection, it is arguably reasonable to assume that bargaining coverage and the associated mitigating factors are more important when explicit tradeoffs are involved (Paper III). Relatedly, in terms of environmental policy support the mitigating factors associated with bargaining coverage could be less important in developing economies with lower ecological performance (Paper IV), as there arguably is a stronger link in countries of such a description between immediate self-interest and environmental protection (e.g., Bush and Clayton, 2023; Inglehart, 1995). Additionally, across the broader international context of Paper IV it may also be more difficult to generalize upon the meaning and implications of collective bargaining coverage (an issue discussed also in Paper I).

Relatedly, a further and pertinent issue to pursue elsewhere pertains to more fine-grained contextual nuances and specificities. As always in research of a comparative nature, there is a trade-off between data coverage and data specificity (Esping-Andersen, 1990: 2). An important limitation to the sort of large-scale comparisons pursued in the present dissertation is that they come at the expense of more detailed examinations of the internal dynamics for example within specific institutional contexts, countries, unions, or occupational categories (e.g., Almond and Connolly, 2020; Cronert and Forsén, 2023; Jansson, 2012, 2016; Jensen, 2017; Hyman, 1994b: 175-6). Indeed - while addressed variously across the papers - along the two overarching themes of this thesis the meaning and implications of union membership may differ across various unions, depending upon such factors as their political identity as well as occupational and sectoral composition (e.g. Arndt, 2018; Arundhati Ray and Pontusson, 2023; Bergene and Drange, 2021; Hyman, 1994b: 175; Hyman and Gumbrell-McCormick, 2010: 321).

Lastly, going forward there may be cause further to draw connections between the two overarching themes of this thesis by examining the relationship between trade unions and the environment through the lens of conflict between management and workers, or class conflict construed more broadly. With regards to support for environmental protection, a key theme running through the present dissertation revolves around the higher propensity of union members to prioritize broader social interests above immediate sectional interests. However, it would seem pertinent not to over-emphasize such an element of 'restraint' for the sake of broader common interests to advance the image

of 'a non-confrontational form of unionism that seeks to foster a community of workers to aid one another without challenging existing power relations' (Banks and Metzgar, 2005: 28). Indeed, while unions may be fundamentally important institutions in supporting and reflecting various forms of collectivism or social capital (Jarley, 2005; Rothstein, 2001: 223) that can be harnessed to legitimize environmental agendas, when such agendas involve trade-offs this should not motivate an unjustifiably large burden being put on workers. Tackling environmental degradation and climate change precipitates social struggles concerning the equitable reallocation of the various costs following from such measures (Hickel, 2021: 1107) as well as – notably – in terms of the realization of such agendas (and especially those of a more transformative character) in the first place (Fritz and Eversberg, 2023: 17; Malm, 2018; Malm and The Zetkin Collective, 2021: xvii).

Hence, as Hampton notes, given the scale and costs involved, achieving a just transition will be fraught with antagonisms: 'If someone has to pay, then it is simply impossible to ally with every other actor' (Hampton, 2015: 76). This raises many questions concerning union members' attitudes that can be explored further by building on the present thesis, which demonstrates that unions offer a principal means for workers collectively to alter the social relations at work and extend their control over the labour process. The dissertation provides some empirical evidence to suggest that the transformational capacity embodied in such collective action – at the workplace as well as in the political sphere – can be channelled to legitimize and enforce more ambitious environmental agendas.

References

- Ackroyd S and Bolton S (1999) It is not Taylorism: Mechanisms of Work Intensification in the Provision of Gynaecological Services in a NHS Hospital. *Work, Employment and Society* 13(2): 369–387.
- Adăscăliței D, Heyes J and Mendonça P (2022) The intensification of work in Europe: A multilevel analysis. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 60(2): 324–347.
- Ahlquist JS and Levi M (2013) *In the Interest of Others*. Princeton University Press.
- Ahrens L (2023) Labor market risks and welfare preferences: a bounded rationality approach. *Socio-Economic Review*, OnlineFirst: 1-22.
- Allan K and Robinson J (2022) Working towards a green job? Autoworkers, climate change and the role of collective identity in union renewal. *Journal of Industrial Relations* 64(4): 585–607.
- Almeida P, González LR, Flores EO, Curry V and Padilla A (2023) The building blocks of community participation in local climate meetings. *npj Climate Action* 2(1): 1–5.
- Almond P and Connolly H (2020) A manifesto for 'slow' comparative research on work and employment. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 26(1): 59–74.
- Anderson CJ and Pontusson J (2007) Workers, worries and welfare states: Social protection and job insecurity in 15 OECD countries. *European Journal of Political Research* 46(2): 211–235.
- Antal M (2014) Green goals and full employment: Are they compatible? *Ecological Economics* 107: 276–286.
- Antal M, Plank B, Mokos J and Wiedendorfer D (2020) Is working less really good for the environment? A systematic review of the empirical evidence for resource use, greenhouse gas emissions and the ecological footprint. *Environmental Research Letters* 16(1): 013002.
- Arndt C (2018) White-Collar Unions and Attitudes towards Income Inequality, Redistribution, and State–Market Relations. *European Sociological Review* 34(6): 675–693.
- Arndt C and Rennwald L (2016) Union members at the polls in diverse trade union landscapes. *European Journal of Political Research* 55(4): 702–722.
- Artz B (2010) The Impact of Union Experience on Job Satisfaction. *Industrial*

- Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society 49(3): 387–405.
- Arundhati Ray A and Pontusson J (2023) *Trade Unions and Left Parties in Sweden 1986-2018*. Unequal Democracies Working paper no. 44. Geneva: Université de Genéve, Department of Political Science and International Relations.
- Baccaro L and Howell C (2017) *Trajectories of Neoliberal Transformation:* European Industrial Relations since the 1970s. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bacon N (1999) Union derecognition and the new human relations: A steel industry case study. *Work, Employment and Society* 13(1): 1–17.
- Bakker AB and Demerouti E (2017) Job demands—resources theory: Taking stock and looking forward. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 22(3): 273–285.
- Bakker AB, Demerouti E and Euwema MC (2005) Job resources buffer the impact of job demands on burnout. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 10(2): 170–180.
- Baldwin P (1990) *The Politics of Social Solidarity: Class Bases of the European Welfare State 1875-1975*. Cambridge: Cambridge University press.
- Ballew MT, Pearson AR, Goldberg MH, Rosenthal SA and Leiserowitz A (2020) Does socioeconomic status moderate the political divide on climate change? The roles of education, income, and individualism. *Global Environmental Change* 60: 102024.
- Banks A and Metzgar J (2005) Response to "Unions as Social Capital". *Labor Studies Journal* 29(4): 27–35.
- Barca S (2012) On working-class environmentalism: an historical and transnational overview. *Interface: A Journal For and About Social Movements* 4: 61–80.
- Barca S (2019) Labour and the ecological crisis: The eco-modernist dilemma in western Marxism(s) (1970s-2000s). *Geoforum* 98: 226–235.
- Barchiesi F (2014) Conflict, Order, and Change. In: Wilkinson A, Wood GE, and Deeg R (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Employment Relations:* Comparative Employment Systems. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 241–259.
- Barling J, Kelloway EK and Bremermann EH (1991) Preemployment predictors of union attitudes: The role of family socialization and work beliefs. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 76(5): 725-731.

- Barry J (2013) Trade unions and the transition away from 'actually existing unsustainability': From economic crisis to a new political economy beyond growth. In: Räthzel N and Uzzell D (eds) *Trade Unions in the Green Economy: Working for the Environment*. New York: Routledge, pp. 227–240.
- Barry M and Wilkinson A (2022) Employee voice, psychologisation and human resource management (HRM). *Human Resource Management Journal* 32(3): 631–646.
- Behrens M and Pekarek A (2021) Divided We Stand? Coalition Dynamics in the German Union Movement. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 59(2): 503–531.
- Bélanger J and Edwards P (2007) The conditions promoting compromise in the workplace. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 45(4): 713–734.
- Bell K (2020) Working-Class Environmentalism: An Agenda for a Just and Fair Transition to Sustainability. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bender B (2023) Class Conflict or Consensus? Understanding Social Partner Positions on Social Policy Reforms. *Journal of Social Policy*: 1–18.
- Bender KA and Sloane PJ (1999) Trade union membership, tenure and the level of job insecurity. *Applied Economics* 31(1): 123–135.
- Benford RD and Snow DA (2000) Framing processes and social movements: An overview and assessment. *Annual Review of Sociology* 26(1): 611–639.
- Bengtsson M, Berglund T and Oskarson M (2013) Class and ideological orientations revisited: an exploration of class-based mechanisms. *The British Journal of Sociology* 64(4): 691–716.
- Bergene AC and Drange I (2021) Social Class, Union Strategies, and Preference in Wage Outcomes in Norway. *Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies*: 85–116.
- Berglund T and Furåker B (2016) Employment protection regulation, trade unions and tenure of employment: An analysis in 23 European countries. *Industrial Relations Journal* 47(5–6): 492–512.
- Berglund T, Furåker B and Vulkan P (2014) Is job insecurity compensated for by employment and income security? *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 35(1): 165–184.
- Bergman ME (2022) Labour market policies and support for populist radical right parties: the role of nostalgic producerism, occupational risk, and feedback effects. *European Political Science Review* 14(4): 520–543.

- Bergström O (2019) Changing restructuring regimes in 11 European countries during and after the financial crisis. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 25(2): 95–111.
- Berton F, Carreri A, Devicienti F and Ricci A (2023) The collective voice of unions and workplace training in Italy: New insights from mixed methods. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 61(3): 595-622.
- Bessa I, Charlwood A and Valizade D (2021) Do unions cause job dissatisfaction? Evidence from a Quasi-Experiment in the United Kingdom. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 59(2): 251–278.
- Beynon H (1973) Working for Ford. London: Penguin.
- Birch S (2020) Political polarization and environmental attitudes: a cross-national analysis. *Environmental Politics* 29(4): 697–718.
- Bledow N (2021) Labor Unions in the Contemporary Welfare State: Preferences, Salience, Positions [Doctoral Dissertation]. Konstanz: Universität Konstanz.
- Bledow N and Busemeyer MR (2021) Lukewarm or enthusiastic supporters? Exploring union member attitudes towards social investment and compensatory policy. *Journal of European Social Policy* 31(3): 267–281.
- Blyth M (2003) Structures Do Not Come with an Instruction Sheet: Interests, Ideas, and Progress in Political Science. *Perspectives on Politics* 1(4): 695–706.
- Booth AL (1985) The Free Rider Problem and a Social Custom Model of Trade Union Membership. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 100(1): 253–261.
- Booth JE, Lup D and Williams M (2017) Union Membership and Charitable Giving in the United States. *ILR Review* 70(4): 835–864.
- Borjas GJ (1979) Job Satisfaction, Wages, and Unions. *The Journal of Human Resources* 14(1): 21–40.
- Boudon R (2003) Beyond rational choice theory. *Annual Review of Sociology* 29(1): 1–21.
- Boxall P and Winterton J (2018) Which conditions foster high-involvement work processes? A synthesis of the literature and agenda for research. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 39(1): 27–47.
- Brady D (2007) Institutional, economic, or solidaristic? Assessing explanations for unionization across affluent democracies. *Work and Occupations* 34(1): 67–101.
- Brooks C and Svallfors S (2010) Why does class matter? Policy attitudes,

- mechanisms, and the case of the Nordic countries. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 28(2): 199–213.
- Bryson A, Cappellari L and Lucifora C (2004) Does union membership really reduce job satisfaction? *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 42(3): 439–459.
- Bryson A, Cappellari L and Lucifora C (2010) Why So Unhappy? The Effects of Unionization on Job Satisfaction. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 72(3): 357–380.
- Bryson A, Barth E and Dale-Olsen H (2013) The Effects of Organizational Change on Worker Well-Being and the Moderating Role of Trade Unions. *ILR Review* 66(4): 989–1011.
- Budd JW, Gomez R and Meltz N (2004) Why a Balance is Best: The Pluralist Industrial Relations Paradigm of Balancing Competing Interests. In: Kaufman BE (ed.) *Theoretical Perspectives on Work and the Employment Relationship*. Champaign, IL: Industrial Relations Research Association, pp. 195–228.
- Bunge M (1996) Finding Philosophy in Social Science. New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press.
- Burgoon B and Dekker F (2010) Flexible employment, economic insecurity and social policy preferences in Europe. *Journal of European Social Policy* 20(2): 126–141.
- Bush SS and Clayton A (2023) Facing Change: Gender and Climate Change Attitudes Worldwide. *American Political Science Review* 117(2): 591–608.
- Calhoun C (2020) Moishe Postone and the Transcendence of Capitalism. *Critical Historical Studies* 7(1): 145–165.
- Caprara GV, Schwartz S, Capanna C, Vecchione M and Barbaranelli C (2006) Personality and Politics: Values, Traits, and Political Choice. *Political Psychology* 27(1): 1–28.
- Carstensen MB, Ibsen CL and Schmidt VA (2022) Ideas and power in employment relations studies. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 61(1): 3–21.
- Casey C, Delaney H and Fiedler A (2021) Recalling the moral dimension: Transnational labour interests and corporate social responsibilities. *Industrial Relations Journal* 52(5): 389–405.
- Cebolla-Boado H and Ortiz L (2014) Extra-representational types of political participation and models of trade unionism: a cross-country

- comparison1. Socio-Economic Review 12(4): 747–778.
- Cha JM, Holgate J and Yon K (2018) Emergent Cultures of Activism: Young People and the Building of Alliances Between Unions and Other Social Movements. *Work and Occupations* 45(4): 451–474.
- Charlwood A (2002) Why Do Non–union Employees Want to Unionize? Evidence from Britain. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 40(3): 463–491.
- Checchi D, Visser J and Van De Werfhorst HG (2010) Inequality and Union Membership: The Influence of Relative Earnings and Inequality Attitudes. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* (1): 84–108.
- Chen M (2017) Job versus environment: an examination on the attitude of union members toward environmental spending. *Environmental Economics and Policy Studies* 19(4): 761–788.
- Cigéhn G, Johansson M and Karlsson L (2001) Klassamhällets Återkomst: Om Klassidentitet, Arbetsliv Och Fritid Vid Tröskeln till Ett Nytt Sekel. Umeå: Sociologiska institutionen, Umeå universitet.
- Ciplet D and Harrison JL (2020) Transition tensions: mapping conflicts in movements for a just and sustainable transition. *Environmental Politics* 29(3): 435–456.
- Clarke L and Lipsig-Mummé C (2020) Future conditional: From just transition to radical transformation? *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 26(4): 351–366.
- Clegg HA (1975) Pluralism in Industrial Relations. *British Journal of Indust*rial Relations 13(3): 309–316.
- Cohen S (2011) Left agency and class action: The paradox of workplace radicalism. *Capital & Class* 35(3): 371–389.
- Compston H (2002) Introduction: the strange persistence of policy concertation. In: Berger S and Compston H (eds) *Policy Concertation and Social Partnership in Western Europe: Lessons for the 21st Century*. New York: Berghahn Books, pp. 1–16.
- Conway E, Fu N, Monks K, Alfes K and Bailey C (2016) Demands or Resources? The Relationship Between HR Practices, Employee Engagement, and Emotional Exhaustion Within a Hybrid Model of Employment Relations. *Human Resource Management* 55(5): 901–917.
- Cronert A and Forsén R (2023) Like worker, like union? Labor market risk exposure, white-collar predominance and trade unions' policy advocacy. *Socio-Economic Review* 21(1): 367–395.

- Crouch C (1982) *Trade Unions: The Logic of Collective Action*. London: Fontana.
- Crouch C (2017) Membership density and trade union power. *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 23(1): 47–61.
- Cruz SM (2017) The relationships of political ideology and party affiliation with environmental concern: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 53: 81–91.
- Cullinane N (2014) Institutions and the Industrial Relations Tradition. In: Wilkinson A, Wood GE, and Deeg R (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Employment Relations: Comparative Employment Systems*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 222–240.
- De la Porte C and Jacobsson K (2011) Social investment or recommodification? Assessing the employment policies of the EU member states. In: Morel N, Palier B, and Palme J (eds) *Towards a Social Investment Welfare State?* Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 117–150.
- Deery S and Walsh J (1999) The Decline of Collectivism? A Comparative Study of White-Collar Employees in Britain and Australia. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 37(2): 245–269.
- Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F and Schaufeli WB (2001) The job demands-resources model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 86(3): 499.
- Dietz T, Kalof L and Stern PC (2002) Gender, Values, and Environmentalism. Social Science Quarterly 83(1): 353–364.
- Dietz T, Fitzgerald A and Shwom R (2005) Environmental Values. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 30(1): 335–372.
- Diez-Roux AV (1998) Bringing context back into epidemiology: variables and fallacies in multilevel analysis. *American Journal of Public Health* 88(2): 216–222.
- Dixon JC, Fullerton AS and Robertson DL (2013) Cross-national differences in workers' perceived job, labour market, and employment insecurity in Europe: Empirical tests and theoretical extensions. *European Sociological Review* 29(5): 1053–1067.
- Doellgast V, Holtgrewe U and Deery S (2009) The Effects of National Institutions and Collective Bargaining Arrangements on Job Quality in Front-Line Service Workplaces. *ILR Review* 62(4): 489–509.
- Dolezal M (2010) Exploring the Stabilization of a Political Force: The Social and Attitudinal Basis of Green Parties in the Age of Globalization. *West*

- European Politics 33(3): 534-552.
- Donegani CP and McKay S (2012) Is there a paradox of lower job satisfaction among trade union members? European evidence. *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 18(4): 471–489.
- Donnelly MJ (2016) Competition and solidarity: union members and immigration in Europe. *West European Politics* 39(4): 688–709.
- Doucouliagos H, Freeman RB, Laroche P and Stanley TD (2018) How Credible Is Trade Union Research? Forty Years of Evidence on the Monopoly–Voice Trade-Off. *ILR Review* 71(2): 287–305.
- Dukes R and Streeck W (2023) Democracy at Work: Contract, Status and Post-Industrial Justice. Cambridge, UK; Hoboken, NJ: Polity.
- Dundon T, Martínez Lucio M, Hughes E, Howcroft D, Keizer A and Walden R (2020) *Power, Politics and Influence at Work.* Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Dunlap RE and Mertig AG (1995) Global Concern for the Environment: Is Affluence a Prerequisite? *Journal of Social Issues* 51(4): 121–137.
- Dunlap RE and York R (2008) The Globalization of Environmental Concern and The Limits of The Postmaterialist Values Explanation: Evidence from Four Multinational Surveys. *The Sociological Quarterly* 49(3): 529–563.
- Dunlap RE, Xiao C and McCright AM (2001) Politics and Environment in America: Partisan and Ideological Cleavages in Public Support for Environmentalism. *Environmental Politics* 10(4): 23–48.
- Durkheim É (1997) The Division of Labor in Society. New York: Free press.
- Ebbinghaus B (1995) The Siamese Twins: Citizenship Rights, Cleavage Formation, and Party-Union Relations in Western Europe. *International Review of Social History* 40(S3): 51–89.
- Ebbinghaus B, Göbel C and Koos S (2011) Social capital, 'Ghent' and workplace contexts matter: Comparing union membership in Europe. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 17(2): 107–124.
- Edlund J and Grönlund A (2008) Protection of Mutual Interests? Employment Protection and Skill Formation in Different Labour Market Regimes. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 14(3): 245–264.
- Edlund J and Grönlund A (2010) Class and Work Autonomy in 21 Countries: A Question of Production Regime or Power Resources? *Acta Sociologica* 53(3): 213–228.
- Edlund J and Lindh A (2015) The democratic class struggle revisited: The

- welfare state, social cohesion and political conflict. *Acta Sociologica* 58(4): 311–328.
- Edwards P, Bélanger J and Wright M (2006) The bases of compromise in the workplace: A theoretical framework. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 44(1): 125–145.
- Edwards PK (1986) Conflict at Work: A Materialist Analysis of Workplace Relations. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Edwards PK (1992) Industrial conflict: themes and issues in recent research. British Journal of Industrial Relations 30(3): 361–404.
- Edwards RC (1979) Contested Terrain: The Transformation of the Workplace in the Twentieth Century. New York: Basic Books.
- Elster J (1989) *Nuts and Bolts for the Social Sciences*. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Emmenegger P (2009) Barriers to entry: Insider/outsider politics and the political determinants of job security regulations. *Journal of European Social Policy* 19(2): 131–146.
- Emmenegger P, Marx P and Schraff D (2015) Labour market disadvantage, political orientations and voting: how adverse labour market experiences translate into electoral behaviour. *Socio-Economic Review* 13(2): 189–213.
- Engler F and Voigt L (2023) There is power in a union? Union members' preferences and the conditional effect of labour unions on left parties in different welfare state programmes. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 61(1): 89–109.
- Esping-Andersen G (1990) *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*. Cambridge: Polity.
- Esping-Andersen G (2000) Multi-dimensional decommodification: a reply to Graham Room. *Policy & Politics* 28(3): 353–359.
- ESS Round 5 (2010) European Social Survey Round 5 Data. *Norwegian Centre for Research Data, Norway*.
- Esser I and Olsen KM (2012) Perceived Job Quality: Autonomy and Job Security within a Multi-Level Framework. *European Sociological Review* 28(4): 443–454.
- Eurofound (2018a) ERM report 2018: Impact of restructuring on working conditions. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Eurofound (2018b) Measuring varieties of industrial relations in Europe: A quantitative analysis. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the

- European Union.
- EVS (2020) European Values Study 2017: Integrated Dataset (EVS 2017). ZA7500 Data file Version 4.0.0. Cologne: GESIS Data Archive. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13560.
- Fairbrother M (2013) Rich People, Poor People, and Environmental Concern: Evidence across Nations and Time. *European Sociological Review* 29(5): 910–922.
- Felli R (2014) An alternative socio-ecological strategy? International trade unions' engagement with climate change. *Review of International Political Economy* 21(2): 372–398.
- Feygina I, Jost JT and Goldsmith RE (2010) System justification, the denial of global warming, and the possibility of "system-sanctioned change". *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 36(3): 326–338.
- Finch HW, Bolin JE and Kelley K (2014) *Multilevel Modeling Using R*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Fiorito J (1992) Unionism and Altruism. Labor Studies Journal 17(3): 19–34.
- Fiorito J and Padavic I (2022a) Not so exceptional? Prosocial influences on union support among US workers. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 43(3): 1305–1318.
- Fiorito J and Padavic I (2022b) What Do Workers and the Public Want? Unions' Social Value. *ILR Review* 75(2): 295–320.
- Fiorito J, Padavic I and DeOrtentiis PS (2015) Reconsidering union activism and its meaning. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 53(3): 556–579.
- Fitzgerald JB, Schor JB and Jorgenson AK (2018) Working hours and carbon dioxide emissions in the United States, 2007–2013. *Social Forces* 96(4): 1851–1874.
- Flanagan F and Goods C (2022) Climate change and industrial relations: Reflections on an emerging field. *Journal of Industrial Relations* 64(4): 479–498.
- Flanders A (1970) Management and Unions: The Theory and Reform of Industrial Relations. London: Faber & Faber.
- Fox A (1969) Management's frame of reference. In: Flanders A (ed.) *Collective Bargaining: Selected Readings*. Harmondsworth: Penguin, pp. 390–409.
- Fox A and Flanders A (1969) The reform of collective bargaining: From Donovan to Durkheim. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 7(2):

- 151–180.
- Frangi L, Boodoo MU and Hebdon R (2022) Demobilised or dormant? Exploring pro-strike attitudes among employees who have never joined a strike. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 43(3): 1236–1259.
- Franzen A and Meyer R (2009) Environmental attitudes in cross-national perspective: A multilevel analysis of the ISSP 1993 and 2000. *European Sociological Review* 26(2): 219–234.
- Fraser N (2014) Can society be commodities all the way down? Post-Polanyian reflections on capitalist crisis. *Economy and Society* 43(4): 541–558.
- Fraser N (2017) A Triple Movement? Parsing the Politics of Crisis after Polanyi. In: Burchardt M and Kirn G (eds) *Beyond Neoliberalism: Social Analysis after 1989*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 29–42.
- Fredriksson PG and Gaston N (1999) The "greening" of trade unions and the demand for eco-taxes. *European Journal of Political Economy* 15(4): 663–686.
- Freeman RB (1986) The Effect of the Union Wage Differential on Management Opposition and Union Organizing Success. *The American Economic Review* 76(2): 92–96.
- Freeman RB and Medoff JL (1984) What Do Unions Do? New York: Basic Books.
- Frege C (2008) The history of industrial relations as a field of study. In: Blyton P, Bacon N, Fiorito J and Heery E (eds) *The Sage Handbook of Indust- rial Relations*. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications, pp. 33–52.
- Frege C, Kelly J and McGovern P (2011) Richard Hyman: Marxism, trade unionism and comparative employment relations. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 49(2): 209–230.
- Fritz M and Eversberg D (2023) Support for eco-social policy from a class perspective: Responsibilities, redistribution, regulation and rights. *European Journal of Social Security*, OnlineFirst: 1-22.
- Fritz M and Koch M (2019) Public Support for Sustainable Welfare Compared: Links between Attitudes towards Climate and Welfare Policies. *Sustainability* 11(15): 4146.
- Furåker B (2005) Sociological Perspectives on Labor Markets. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Furåker B and Bengtsson M (2013) Collective and individual benefits of trade

- unions: a multi-level analysis of 21 European countries. *Industrial Relations Journal* 44(5–6): 548–565.
- Furåker B and Berglund T (2003) Are the Unions Still Needed? Employees' Views of their Relations to Unions and Employers. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 24(4): 573–594.
- Gahan P and Pekarek A (2013) Social movement theory, collective action frames and union theory: A critique and extension. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 51(4): 754–776.
- Gallie D (2007) Production Regimes and the Quality of Employment in Europe. *Annual Review of Sociology* 33: 85–104.
- Gallie D, Felstead A and Green F (2004) Changing Patterns of Task Discretion in Britain. *Work, Employment and Society* 18(2): 243–266.
- Giddens A (1973) *The Class Structure of the Advanced Societies*. London: Hutchinson.
- Givens JE and Jorgenson AK (2011) The Effects of Affluence, Economic Development, and Environmental Degradation on Environmental Concern: A Multilevel Analysis. *Organization & Environment* 24(1): 74–91.
- Givens JE, Huang X and Jorgenson AK (2019) Ecologically unequal exchange: A theory of global environmental injustice. *Sociology Compass* 13(5): 1–15.
- Goerke L and Huang Y (2022) Job satisfaction and trade union membership in Germany. *Labour Economics* 78: 102238.
- Goldsmith RE, Feygina I and Jost JT (2013) The Gender Gap in Environmental Attitudes: A System Justification Perspective. In: Alston M and Whittenbury K (eds) *Research, Action and Policy: Addressing the Gendered Impacts of Climate Change*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, pp. 159–171.
- Goldthorpe JH (1967) Review of The Logic of Collective Action, by Mancur Olson. *Sociology* 1(3): 304–305.
- Goldthorpe JH (2016) *Sociology as a Population Science*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gordon JC (2015) Protecting the unemployed: Varieties of unionism and the evolution of unemployment benefits and active labor market policy in the rich democracies. *Socio-Economic Review* 13(1): 79–99.
- Gough I (2010) Economic crisis, climate change and the future of welfare states. *Twenty-First Century Society* 5(1): 51–64.

- Gough I (2013) Carbon Mitigation Policies, Distributional Dilemmas and Social Policies. *Journal of Social Policy* 42(2): 191–213.
- Gough I, Meadowcroft J, Dryzek J, Gerhards J, Lengfeld H, Markandya A and Ortiz R (2008) JESP symposium: Climate change and social policy. *Journal of European Social Policy* 18(4): 325–344.
- Gould KA, Pellow DN and Schnaiberg A (2004) Interrogating the Treadmill of Production: Everything You Wanted to Know about the Treadmill but Were Afraid to Ask. *Organization & Environment* 17(3): 296–316.
- Granovetter M (1985) Economic action and social structure: The problem of embeddedness. *American Journal of Sociology* 91(3): 481–510.
- Green CP and Heywood JS (2015) Dissatisfied Union Workers: Sorting Revisited. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 53(3): 580–600.
- Green F and McIntosh S (2001) The intensification of work in Europe. *Labour Economics* 8(2): 291–308.
- Green F, Felstead A, Gallie D and Henseke G (2022) Working Still Harder. *ILR Review* 75(2): 458–487.
- Greenwood M and Van Buren HJ (2017) Ideology in HRM Scholarship: Interrogating the Ideological Performativity of 'New Unitarism'. *Journal of Business Ethics* 142(4): 663–678.
- Gugushvili D and Otto A (2023) Determinants of Public Support for Eco-Social Policies: A Comparative Theoretical Framework. *Social Policy* and Society 22(1): 1–15.
- Gumbrell-McCormick R and Hyman R (2013) *Trade Unions in Western Europe: Hard Times, Hard Choices*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gumbrell-McCormick R and Hyman R (2015) International trade union solidarity and the impact of the crisis. *European Policy Analysis* 2015(1): 1–16.
- Gunderson R (2019) Work time reduction and economic democracy as climate change mitigation strategies: or why the climate needs a renewed labor movement. *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences* 9(1): 35–44.
- Guy S, Kashima Y, Walker I and O'Neill S (2014) Investigating the effects of knowledge and ideology on climate change beliefs. *European Journal of Social Psychology* 44(5): 421–429.
- Hacker JS and Pierson P (2004) Varieties of capitalist interests and capitalist power: A response to Swenson. *Studies in American Political Development* 18(2): 186.

- Hadziabdic S (2020) The Curious Case of the Grumpy Union Member. Swiss Journal of Sociology 46(3): 489–514.
- Hadziabdic S and Baccaro L (2020) A Switch or a Process? Disentangling the Effects of Union Membership on Political Attitudes in Switzerland and the UK. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 59(3): 466–499.
- Hall PA and Soskice David (2001a) An Introduction to Varieties of Capitalism. In: Hall PA and Soskice Davod (eds) *Varieties of Capitalism: The Institutional Foundations of Comparative Advantage*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1–70.
- Hall PA and Soskice D (eds) (2001b) Varieties of Capitalism: The Institutional Foundations of Comparative Advantage. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hampton P (2015) Workers and Trade Unions for Climate Solidarity: Tackling Climate Change in a Neoliberal World. London: Routledge.
- Hampton P (2018) Trade unions and climate politics: prisoners of neoliberalism or swords of climate justice? *Globalizations* 15(4): 470–486.
- Hardt M and Negri A (2007) *Multituden: Krig Och Demokrati i Imperiets Tidsålder*. Hägersten: Tankekraft.
- Harring N and Sohlberg J (2017) The varying effects of left–right ideology on support for the environment: Evidence from a Swedish survey experiment. *Environmental Politics* 26(2): 278–300.
- Harring N, Jagers SC and Matti S (2017) Public Support for Pro-Environmental Policy Measures: Examining the Impact of Personal Values and Ideology. *Sustainability* 9(5): 679.
- Harvey D (1981) The spatial fix-Hegel, von Thunen, and Marx. *Antipode* 13(3): 1–12.
- Hassel A (2015) Trade Unions and the Future of Democratic Capitalism. In: Beramendi P, Häusermann S, Kitschelt H and Kriesi H (eds) *The Politics of Advanced Capitalism*. New York: Cambridge University Press, pp. 231–256.
- Heath Y and Gifford R (2006) Free-Market Ideology and Environmental Degradation: The Case of Belief in Global Climate Change. *Environment and Behavior* 38(1): 48–71.
- Heery E and Simms M (2010) Employer responses to union organising: patt-terns and effects. *Human Resource Management Journal* 20(1): 3–22.
- Heyes J and Stuart M (1998) Bargaining for Skills: Trade Unions and Training

- at the Workplace. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 36(3): 459–467.
- Hickel J (2021) What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification. *Globalizations* 18(7): 1105–1111.
- Hickel J and Kallis G (2020) Is Green Growth Possible? *New Political Economy* 25(4): 469–486.
- Hipp L and Givan RK (2015) What do unions do? A cross-national reexamination of the relationship between unionization and job satisfaction. *Social Forces* 94(1): 349–377.
- Hirschman AO (1970) Exit, Voice, and Loyalty: Responses to Decline in Firms, Organizations, and States. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Univ. Press.
- Hoffarth MR and Hodson G (2016) Green on the outside, red on the inside: Perceived environmentalist threat as a factor explaining political polarization of climate change. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 45: 40–49.
- Holden C (2003) Decommodification and the Workfare State. *Political Studies Review* 1(3): 303–316.
- Holgate J (2021) *Arise: Power, Strategy, and Union Resurgence*. London: Pluto Press.
- Holland P, Cooper B and Sheehan C (2017) Employee voice, supervisor support, and engagement: The mediating role of trust. *Human Resource Management* 56(6): 915–929.
- Hoque K, Earls J, Conway N and Bacon N (2017) Union representation, collective voice and job quality: An analysis of a survey of union members in the UK finance sector. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 38(1): 27–50.
- Horkheimer M (1972) Critical theory: Selected essays. New York: Continuum.
- Hornsey MJ, Harris EA, Bain PG and Fielding KS (2016) Meta-analyses of the determinants and outcomes of belief in climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 6(6): 622–626.
- Hox JJ, Moerbeek M and van de Schoot R (2017) *Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications*. New York: Routledge.
- Hsu A, Esty DC, Levy MA and de Sherbinin A (2016) 2016 Environmental Performance Index. New Haven, CT: Yale University.
- Huber E and Stephens JD (2014) Income inequality and redistribution in post-

- industrial democracies: demographic, economic and political determinants. *Socio-Economic Review* 12(2): 245–267.
- Huo J, Nelson M and Stephens JD (2008) Decommodification and activation in social democratic policy: resolving the paradox. *Journal of European Social Policy* 18(1): 5–20.
- Hyman R (1989a) Strikes. Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Hyman R (1989b) *The Political Economy of Industrial Relations: Theory and Practice in a Cold Climate.* Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Hyman R (1994a) Changing Trade Union Identities and Strategies. In: Hyman R and Ferner A (eds) *New Frontiers in European Industrial Relations*. Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 108–139.
- Hyman R (1994b) Theory and industrial relations. *British Journal of Indust*rial Relations 32(2): 165–180.
- Hyman R (1997) The future of employee representation. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 35(3): 309–336.
- Hyman R (2001) *Understanding European Trade Unionism: Between Market, Class and Society.* London: Sage.
- Hyman R (2007) How can trade unions act strategically? *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 13(2): 193–210.
- Hyman R and Gumbrell-McCormick R (2010) Trade unions, politics and parties: is a new configuration possible? *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 16(3): 315–331.
- Ibsen CL and Thelen K (2017) Diverging Solidarity: Labor Strategies in the New Knowledge Economy. *World Politics* 69(3): 409–447.
- Inglehart R (1971) The Silent Revolution in Europe: Intergenerational Change in Post-Industrial Societies. *American Political Science Review* 65(4): 991–1017.
- Inglehart R (1995) Public support for environmental protection: Objective problems and subjective values in 43 societies. *PS: Political Science & Politics* 28(1): 57–72.
- Inglehart RF (2018) Cultural Evolution: People's Motivations Are Changing, and Reshaping the World. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC (2021) Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.

- Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Iskander NN and Lowe N (2020) Climate Change and Work: Politics and Power. *Annual Review of Political Science* 23(1): 111–131.
- ISSP (2017) International Social Survey Programme: Social Inequality IV ISSP 2009 (Version 4.0.0). Cologne: GESIS Data Archive. http://dx.doi.org/10.4232/1.12777.
- ISSP Research Group (2018) *International Social Survey Programme: Role of Government V ISSP 2016.* Cologne: GESIS Data Archive.
- Iversen T and Soskice D (2015) Information, Inequality, and Mass Polarization: Ideology in Advanced Democracies. *Comparative Political Studies* 48(13): 1781–1813.
- Jackson G and Muellenborn T (2012) Understanding the role of institutions in industrial relations: Perspectives from classical sociological theory. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 51(S1): 472–500.
- Jakobsson N, Muttarak R and Schoyen MA (2018) Dividing the pie in the ecosocial state: Exploring the relationship between public support for environmental and welfare policies. *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space* 36(2): 313–339.
- Jansson J (2012) Manufacturing Consensus: The Making of the Swedish Reformist Working Class. Uppsala: Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, Univ.
- Jansson J (2016) Class Formation in Sweden and Britain: Educating Workers. International Labor and Working-Class History (90): 52–69.
- Jarley P (2005) Unions as Social Capital: Renewal through a Return to the Logic of Mutual Aid? *Labor Studies Journal* 29(4): 1–26.
- Jensen C (2012a) Labour market- versus life course-related social policies: understanding cross-programme differences. *Journal of European Public Policy* 19(2): 275–291.
- Jensen C (2012b) Two sides of the same coin? Left-wing governments and labour unions as determinants of public spending. *Socio-Economic Review* 10(2): 217–240.
- Jensen CS (2017) Political attitudes and trade union membership in the Nordic countries. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 23(4): 381–395.
- Johnson NB, Bobko P and Hartenian LS (1992) Union Influence on Local Union Leaders' Perceptions of Job Insecurity: An Empirical Test.

- *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 30(1): 45–60.
- Jorgenson AK (2009) Foreign Direct Investment and the Environment, the Mitigating Influence of Institutional and Civil Society Factors, and Relationships Between Industrial Pollution and Human Health: A Panel Study of Less-Developed Countries. *Organization & Environment* 22(2): 135–157.
- Jylhä KM and Akrami N (2015) Social dominance orientation and climate change denial: The role of dominance and system justification. *Personality and Individual Differences* 86: 108–111.
- Jylhä KM, Strimling P and Rydgren J (2020) Climate Change Denial among Radical Right-Wing Supporters. *Sustainability* 12(23): 10226.
- Kahan DM, Braman D, Gastil J, Slovic P and Mertz CK (2007) Culture and Identity-Protective Cognition: Explaining the White-Male Effect in Risk Perception. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies* 4(3): 465–505.
- Kalleberg AL (2009) Precarious work, insecure workers: Employment relations in transition. *American Sociological Review* 74(1): 1–22.
- Kalleberg AL (2018) *Precarious Lives: Job Insecurity and Well-Being in Rich Democracies.* Cambridge, UK.
- Kalt T (2022) Agents of transition or defenders of the status quo? Trade union strategies in green transitions. *Journal of Industrial Relations* 64(4): 499–521.
- Kangas OE (1997) Self-interest and the common good: The impact of norms, selfishness and context in social policy opinions. *The Journal of Socio-Economics* 26(5): 475–494.
- Karasek RA (1979) Job Demands, Job Decision Latitude, and Mental Strain: Implications for Job Redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 24(2): 285–308.
- Kaufman BE (2008) Paradigms in Industrial Relations: Original, Modern and Versions In-between. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 46(2): 314–339.
- Keil AK and Kreinin H (2022) Slowing the treadmill for a good life for All? German trade union narratives and social-ecological transformation. *Journal of Industrial Relations* 64(4): 564–584.
- Kelly J (1988) Trade Unions and Socialist Politics. London: Verso.
- Kelly J (1998) Rethinking Industrial Relations: Mobilization, Collectivism and Long Waves. Routledge studies in employment relations. New York: Routledge.

- Kelly J (2018) Rethinking Industrial Relations revisited. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 39(4): 701–709.
- Kerr C, Dunlop JT, Harbison F and Meyers CA (1960) *Industrialism and Industrial Man: The Problems of Labor and Management in Economic Growth*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Prress
- Keyes A, Russell ZA and Fiorito J (2023) The union experience: Workplace instrumentality, prosocial unionism, and union satisfaction. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 44(4): 1239–1265.
- Kilburn HW (2009) Personal Values and Public Opinion. *Social Science Quarterly* 90(4): 868–885.
- Kim H and Bearman PS (1997) The structure and dynamics of movement participation. *American Sociological Review* 62(1): 70–93.
- Kim SE and Margalit Y (2017) Informed Preferences? The Impact of Unions on Workers' Policy Views. *American Journal of Political Science* 61(3): 728–743.
- Kinderman D (2017) Challenging varieties of capitalism's account of business interests: Neoliberal think-tanks, discourse as a power resource and employers' quest for liberalization in Germany and Sweden. *Socio-Economic Review* 15(3): 587–613.
- Kirmanoğlu H and Başlevent C (2012) Using basic personal values to test theories of union membership. *Socio-Economic Review* 10(4): 683–703.
- Kjellberg A (1983) Facklig Organisering i Tolv Länder [Trade Union Organisation in Twelve Countries]. Lund: Arkiv.
- Klandermans PG (1984) Mobilization and participation in trade union action: An expectancy-value approach. *Journal of Occupational Psychology* 57(2): 107–120.
- Koch M and Fritz M (2014) Building the Eco-social State: Do Welfare Regimes Matter? *Journal of Social Policy* 43(4): 679–703.
- Kochan TA (1979) How American Workers View Labor Unions. *Monthly Labor Review* 102(4): 23–31.
- Kojola E, Xiao C and McCright AM (2014) Environmental Concern of Labor Union Members in the United States. *The Sociological Quarterly* 55(1): 72–91.
- Kollmeyer C (2021) Post-industrial capitalism and trade union decline in affluent democracies. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 62(6): 466–487.
- Kollock P (1998) Social dilemmas: The anatomy of cooperation. Annual

- *Review of Sociology* 24(1): 183–214.
- Korpi W (1998) Power Resources Approach vs Action and Conflict: On Causal and Intentional Explanations in the Study of Power. In: O'Connor JS and Olsen GM (eds) Power Resources Theory and the Welfare State: A Critical Approach. Essays Collected in Honour of Walter Korpi. Toronto: Toronto University Press, pp. 37–69.
- Korpi W (2001) Contentious institutions: an augmented rational-action analysis of the origins and path dependency of welfare state institutions in Western countries. *Rationality and Society* 13(2): 235–283.
- Korpi W (2006) Power resources and employer-centered approaches in explanations of welfare states and varieties of capitalism: Protagonists, consenters, and antagonists. *World Politics* 58(2): 167–206.
- Korpi W (2019) The Democratic Class Struggle. London: Routledge.
- Korpi W and Shalev M (1979) Strikes, Industrial Relations and Class Conflict in Capitalist Societies. *The British Journal of Sociology* 30(2): 164–187.
- Kweon Y (2018) Types of labor market policy and the electoral behavior of insecure workers. *Electoral Studies* 55: 1–10.
- Laroche P (2016) A meta-analysis of the union—job satisfaction relationship. British Journal of Industrial Relations 54(4): 709–741.
- Lazarus RJ (2008) Super wicked problems and climate change: Restraining the present to liberate the future. *Cornell L. Rev.* 94: 1153–1231.
- Lee C-S (2007) Labor Unions and Good Governance: A Cross-National, Comparative Analysis. *American Sociological Review* 72(4): 585–609.
- Lee J and Koch M (2023) The role of work and social protection systems in social-ecological transformations: Insights from deliberative citizen forums in Sweden. *European Journal of Social Security*, OnlineFirst: 1-18
- Lenin VIU (1973) What Is to Be Done? Peking: Foreign Languages Press.
- Lévesque C and Murray G (2010) Understanding union power: resources and capabilities for renewing union capacity. *Transfer: European Review of Labour and Research* 16(3): 333–350.
- Lewin D (2001) IR and HR perspectives on workplace conflict: What can each learn from the other? *Human Resource Management Review* 11(4): 453–485.
- Lewin D (2005) Unionism and employment conflict resolution: Rethinking collective voice and its consequences. *Journal of Labor Research*

- 26(2): 209–239.
- Lewis GB, Palm R and Feng B (2019) Cross-national variation in determinants of climate change concern. *Environmental Politics* 28(5): 793–821.
- Li L, Zheng X and Zhang Q (2021) Does leaders' adoption of employee voice influence employee work engagement? *Personnel Review* 51(2): 683–698.
- Lincoln JR and Boothe JN (1993) Unions and work attitudes in the United States and Japan. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 32(2): 159–187.
- Lindbeck A and Snower DJ (1986) Wage setting, unemployment, and insideroutsider relations. *The American Economic Review* 76(2): 235–239.
- Lindberg I (2013) Solidaritet och egenintresse om facket och det kollektiva handlandets dilemma. In: Lindberg I and Neergaard A (eds) *Bortom Horisonten: Fackets Vägval i Globaliseringens Tid.* Stockholm: Premiss, pp. 91–118.
- Liobikienė G and Juknys R (2016) The role of values, environmental risk perception, awareness of consequences, and willingness to assume responsibility for environmentally-friendly behaviour: the Lithuanian case. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 112: 3413–3422.
- Lipset SM (1981) *Political Man: The Social Bases of Politics*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins U.P.
- Llorens S, Bakker AB, Schaufeli W and Salanova M (2006) Testing the robustness of the job demands-resources model. *International Journal of Stress Management* 13(3): 378–391.
- Lo AY and Chow AT (2015) The relationship between climate change concern and national wealth. *Climatic Change* 131(2): 335–348.
- Lopes H, Calapez T and Lopes D (2017) The determinants of work autonomy and employee involvement: A multilevel analysis. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 38(3): 448–472.
- Lukács G (2018) History and Class Consciousness: Studies in Marxist Dialectics. Milton Keynes, UK: Indo-European Publishing.
- Lundström R (2018) Greening transport in Sweden: the role of the organic intellectual in changing union climate change policy. *Globalizations* 15(4): 536–549.
- Lundström R, Räthzel N and Uzzell D (2015) Disconnected spaces: introducing environmental perspectives into the trade union agenda top-down

- and bottom-up. *Environmental Sociology* 1(3): 166–176.
- Lyness KS, Gornick JC, Stone P and Grotto AR (2012) It's All about Control: Worker Control over Schedule and Hours in Cross-National Context. *American Sociological Review* 77(6): 1023–1049.
- MacKenzie R, Stuart M, Forde C, Greenwood I, Gardiner J and Perrett R (2006) 'All that is Solid?': Class, Identity and the Maintenance of a Collective Orientation amongst Redundant Steelworkers. *Sociology* 40(5): 833–852.
- Malm A (2014) Fossil Capital: The Rise of Steam-Power in the British Cotton Industry, c. 1825-1848, and the Roots of Global Warming. Lund: Human Ecology Division, Lund University.
- Malm A (2018) *The Progress of This Storm: Nature and Society in a Warming World.* London: Verso.
- Malm A and The Zetkin Collective (2021) White Skin, Black Fuel: On the Danger of Fossil Fascism. London: Verso.
- Mann M (1973) Consciousness and Action among the Western Working Class. London: Macmillan.
- Mansbridge JJ (1990) The Rise and Fall of Self-Interest in the Explanation of Political Life. In: Mansbridge JJ (ed.) *Beyond Self-Interest*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, pp. 3–24.
- Marquart-Pyatt ST (2012) Contextual influences on environmental concerns cross-nationally: A multilevel investigation. *Social Science Research* 41(5): 1085–1099.
- Marsden R (1982) Industrial relations: a critique of empiricism. *Sociology* 16(2): 232–250.
- Martínez-Alier J (1995) The environment as a luxury good or "too poor to be green"? *Ecological Economics* 13(1): 1–10.
- Marx K (1990) Capital: A Critique of Political Economy. Vol. 1. London: Penguin Classics.
- Marx P (2014) Labour market risks and political preferences: The case of temporary employment. *European Journal of Political Research* 53(1): 136–159.
- McCright AM and Dunlap RE (2011) Cool dudes: The denial of climate change among conservative white males in the United States. *Global Environmental Change* 21(4): 1163–1172.
- McCright AM, Marquart-Pyatt ST, Shwom RL, Brechin SR and Allen S (2016) Ideology, capitalism, and climate: Explaining public views

- about climate change in the United States. *Energy Research & Social Science* 21: 180–189.
- Mejia SA (2020) Global Environmentalism and the World-System: A Cross-National Analysis of Air Pollution. *Sociological Perspectives* 63(2): 276–291.
- Metten A (2021) Rethinking trade union density: A new index for measuring union strength. *Industrial Relations Journal* 52(6): 528–549.
- Morel N, Palier B and Palme J (2011) Beyond the welfare state as we knew it? In: Morel N, Palier B, and Palme J (eds) *Towards a Social Investment Welfare State?* Bristol: Policy Press, pp. 1–30.
- Mosimann N and Pontusson J (2017) Solidaristic Unionism and Support for Redistribution in Contemporary Europe. *World Politics* 69(3): 448–492.
- Mosimann N and Pontusson J (2022) Varieties of trade unions and support for redistribution. *West European Politics* 45(6): 1310–1333.
- Mostafa MM (2016) Post-materialism, Religiosity, Political Orientation, Locus of Control and Concern for Global Warming: A Multilevel Analysis Across 40 Nations. *Social Indicators Research* 128(3): 1273–1298.
- Mueller G (2021) Breaking Things at Work: The Luddites Are Right About Why You Hate Your Job. London: Verso.
- Mughan A and Lacy D (2002) Economic performance, job insecurity and electoral choice. *British Journal of Political Science* 32(3): 513–533.
- Müller-Jentsch W (1985) Trade Unions as Intermediary Organizations. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 6(1): 3–33.
- Nawrotzki RJ (2012) The Politics of Environmental Concern: A Cross-National Analysis. *Organization & Environment* 25(3): 286–307.
- Nenning L, Bridgen P, Zimmermann K, Büchs M and Mesiäislehto M (2023) Climate Crisis and Social Protection From Worker Protection to Postgrowth Transformation? *Social Policy and Society*, OnlineFirst: 1–20.
- Newell PJ, Geels FW and Sovacool BK (2022) Navigating tensions between rapid and just low-carbon transitions. *Environmental Research Letters* 17(4): 1–5
- Nilsson T (1985) Från Kamratföreningar till Facklig Rörelse: De Svenska Tjänstemännens Organisationsutveckling 1900-1980. Lund: Arkiv.
- Näswall K and De Witte H (2003) Who feels insecure in Europe? Predicting job insecurity from background variables. *Economic and Industrial*

- Democracy 24(2): 189-215.
- Obach BK (2004) New Labor: Slowing the Treadmill of Production? *Organization & Environment* 17(3): 337–354.
- O'Brady S and Doellgast V (2021) Collective Voice and Worker Well-being: Union Influence on Performance Monitoring and Emotional Exhaustion in Call Centers. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 60(3): 307–337.
- Offe C (1985a) New Social Movements: Challenging the Boundaries of Institutional Politics. *Social Research* 52(4): 817–868.
- Offe C (1985b) The Attribution of Public Status to Interest Groups. In Keane J (ed.) *Disorganized Capitalism: Contemporary Transformations of Work and Politics*. Cambridge: Polity, pp. 221–258.
- Offe C (1985c) Work: They Key Sociological Category? In: Keane J (ed.) Disorganized Capitalism: Contemporary Transformations of Work and Politics. Cambridge: Polity, pp. 129–150.
- Offe C and Wiesenthal H (1980) Two logics of collective action: Theoretical notes on social class and organizational form. *Political Power and Social Theory* 1(1): 67–115.
- Olson M (1971) The Logic of Collective Action: Public Goods and the Theory of Groups. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Otto A and Gugushvili D (2020) Eco-Social Divides in Europe: Public Attitudes towards Welfare and Climate Change Policies. *Sustainability* 12(1): 404.
- Oude Nijhuis D (2009) Revisiting the Role of Labor: Worker Solidarity, Employer Opposition, and the Development of Old-Age Pensions in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. *World Politics* 61(2): 296–329.
- Palier B and Thelen K (2010) Institutionalizing dualism: Complementarities and change in France and Germany. *Politics & Society* 38(1): 119–148.
- Palm J (2017) There is power in a union: Trade union organization, union membership and union activity in Sweden [Dissertation]. Stockholm: Stockholm University, Faculty of Social Sciences, Department of Sociology.
- Palm J (2020) The declining influence of class and ideology in union membership: Consistent but divergent trends among Swedish employees. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 41(2): 351–371.
- Panarello D (2021) Economic insecurity, conservatism, and the crisis of environmentalism: 30 years of evidence. *Socio-Economic Planning*

- Sciences 73: 100925.
- Parks BC and Timmons Roberts J (2006) Globalization, vulnerability to climate change, and perceived injustice. *Society and Natural Resources* 19(4): 337–355.
- Persson O, Larsson J and Nässén J (2022) Working less by choice: what are the benefits and hardships? *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy* 18(1): 81–96.
- Pfeffer J and Davis-Blake A (1990) Unions and Job Satisfaction: An Alternative View. *Work and Occupations* 17(3): 259–283.
- Pichler M, Krenmayr N, Maneka D, Brand U, Högelsberger H and Wissen M (2021) Beyond the jobs-versus-environment dilemma? Contested social-ecological transformations in the automotive industry. *Energy Research & Social Science* 79: 102180.
- Pierson P (1993) When Effect Becomes Cause: Policy Feedback and Political Change. *World Politics* 45(4): 595–628.
- Polanyi K (2001) The Great Transformation: The Political and Economic Origins of Our Time. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Polletta F and Jasper JM (2001) Collective identity and social movements. *Annual Review of Sociology* 27(1): 283–305.
- Pontusson J (2013) Unionization, Inequality and Redistribution. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 51(4): 797–825.
- Postone M (1993) *Time, Labor, and Social Domination: A Reinterpretation of Marx's Critical Theory.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Prinz L and Pegels A (2018) The role of labour power in sustainability transitions: Insights from comparative political economy on Germany's electricity transition. *Energy Research & Social Science* 41: 210–219.
- Prytz J and Berglund T (2023) Disruption of the Ghent effect: Disentangling structural and institutional determinants of union membership decline in Sweden, 2005–2010. *Industrial Relations Journal*, 5(6): 471–494.
- Przeworski A and Wallerstein M (1982) The Structure of Class Conflict in Democratic Capitalist Societies. *The American Political Science Review* 76(2): 215–238.
- Putnam RD (2000) Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Refslund B and Arnholtz J (2022) Power resource theory revisited: The perils and promises for understanding contemporary labour politics. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 43(4): 1958–1979.

- Rego R and Espírito-Santo A (2023) Beyond density: Improving European trade unions' representativeness through gender quotas. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 29(4): 415–433
- Rennwald L and Pontusson J (2021) Paper Stones Revisited: Class Voting, Unionization and the Electoral Decline of the Mainstream Left. *Perspectives on Politics* 19(1): 36–54.
- Rice J (2007) Ecological Unequal Exchange: Consumption, Equity, and Unsustainable Structural Relationships within the Global Economy. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 48(1): 43–72.
- Rice J (2009) The Transnational Organization of Production and Uneven Environmental Degradation and Change in the World Economy. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 50(3–4): 215–236.
- Rosa H (2019) Resonance: A Sociology of Our Relationship to the World. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Rosetti N (2019) Do European trade unions foster social solidarity? Evidence from multilevel data in 18 countries. *Industrial Relations Journal* 50(1): 84–101.
- Rossen IL, Dunlop PD and Lawrence CM (2015) The desire to maintain the social order and the right to economic freedom: Two distinct moral pathways to climate change scepticism. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 42. Elsevier: 42–47.
- Rothstein B (1998) Labour Market Institutions and Working-Class Strength. In: O'Connor JS and Olsen GM (eds) *Power Resources Theory and the Welfare State: A Critical Approach. Essays Collected in Honour of Walter Korpi*. Toronto: Toronto University Press, pp. 283–311.
- Rothstein B (2001) Social Capital in the Social Democratic Welfare State. *Politics & Society* 29(2): 207–241.
- Rueda D (2005) Insider—outsider politics in industrialized democracies: the challenge to social democratic parties. *American Political Science Review* 99(1): 61–74.
- Rueda D, Wibbels E and Altamirano M (2015) The Origins of Dualism. In: Beramendi P, Häusermann S, Kitschelt H and Kriesi H (eds) *The Politics of Advanced Capitalism*. New York: Cambridge University Press, pp. 89–111.
- Räthzel N and Uzzell D (2011) Trade unions and climate change: The jobs versus environment dilemma. *Global Environmental Change* 21(4): 1215–1223.

- Räthzel N and Uzzell D (2019) Environmental Policies and The Reproduction of Business as Usual: How Does It Work? *Capitalism Nature Socialism* 30(1): 120–138.
- Räthzel N, Stevis D and Uzzell D (2021) Introduction: Expanding the Boundaries of Environmental Labour Studies. In: Räthzel N, Stevis D and Uzzell D (eds) *The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Labour Studies*. Cham: Springer, pp. 1–31.
- Sánchez-Mosquera M (2023) The influence of the political attitudes of workers and the effect of the Great Recession on the decision to join a trade union in Southern Europe. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, OnlineFirst: 1-21.
- Satheesh S (2021) Fighting in the Name of Workers: Exploring the Dynamics of Labour-Environmental Conflicts in Kerala. In: Räthzel N, Stevis D, and Uzzell D (eds) *The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Labour Studies*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 199–223.
- Scheidel A, Del Bene D, Liu J, Navas G, Mingorría S, Demaria F, Avila S, Roy B, Ertör I, Temper L and Martínez-Alier J (2020) Environmental conflicts and defenders: A global overview. *Global Environmental Change* 63: 102104.
- Schnaiberg Allan and Gould KAlan (1994) *Environment and Society: The Enduring Conflict.* Caldwell, N.J.: Blackburn Press.
- Schor JB (2005) Sustainable Consumption and Worktime Reduction. *Journal* of *Industrial Ecology* 9(1–2): 37–50.
- Schultz PW and Zelezny LC (1998) Values and Proenvironmental Behavior: A Five-Country Survey. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 29(4): 540–558.
- Schwartz SH (1992) Universals in the Content and Structure of Values: Theoretical Advances and Empirical Tests in 20 Countries. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* 25: 1–65.
- Schwartz SH and Bilsky W (1987) Toward a universal psychological structure of human values. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 53: 550–562.
- Scruggs L and Benegal S (2012) Declining public concern about climate change: Can we blame the great recession? *Global Environmental Change* 22(2): 505–515.
- Sen AK (1977) Rational Fools: A Critique of the Behavioral Foundations of Economic Theory. *Philosophy & Public Affairs* 6(4): 317–344.

- Shin K-Y, Kalleberg AL and Hewison K (2023) Precarious work: A global perspective. *Sociology Compass*, OnlineFirst: 1–14.
- Sikwebu D and Aroun W (2021) Energy Transitions in the Global South: The Precarious Location of Unions. In: Räthzel N, Stevis D, and Uzzell D (eds) *The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Labour Studies*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 59–81.
- Silver BJ (2003) Forces of Labor: Workers' Movements and Globalization since 1870. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Silverman V (2004) Sustainable Alliances: The Origins of International Labor Environmentalism. *International Labor and Working-Class History* 66: 118–135.
- Silverman V (2006) "Green Unions in a Grey World": Labor Environmentalism and International Institutions. *Organization & Environment* 19(2): 191–213.
- Simms M (2012) Imagined solidarities: Where is class in union organising? *Capital & Class* 36(1): 97–115.
- Simms M (2017) Unions and job quality in the UK: Extending interest representation within regulation institutions. *Work and Occupations* 44(1): 47–67.
- Simpson B and Willer R (2015) Beyond altruism: Sociological foundations of cooperation and prosocial behavior. *Annual Review of Sociology* 41: 43–63.
- Smith TW, Kim J and Son J (2017) Public attitudes toward climate change and other environmental issues across countries. *International Journal of Sociology* 47(1): 62–80.
- Snape E and Redman T (2004) Exchange or covenant? The nature of the member-union relationship. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 43(4): 855–873.
- Snell D and Fairbrother P (2010) Unions as environmental actors. *Transfer:* European Review of Labour and Research 16(3): 411–424.
- Snow DA and Benford RD (1988) Ideology, frame resonance, and participant mobilization. *International Social Movement Research* 1(1): 197–217.
- Spies-Butcher B and Stebbing A (2016) Climate change and the welfare state? Exploring Australian attitudes to climate and social policy. *Journal of Sociology* 52(4): 741–758.
- Stern PC and Dietz T (1994) The Value Basis of Environmental Concern. Journal of Social Issues 50(3): 65–84.

- Stevis D (2023) *Just Transitions: Promise and Contestation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Stevis D and Felli R (2015) Global labour unions and just transition to a green economy. *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics* 15: 29–43.
- Streeck W (2004) Educating capitalists: a rejoinder to Wright and Tsakalotos. *Socio-Economic Review* 2(3): 425–438.
- Streeck W (2005) The Sociology of Labor Markets and Trade Unions. In: Smelser NJ and Swedberg R (eds) *The Handbook of Economic Sociology*. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, pp. 254–283.
- Streeck W (2011) Taking capitalism seriously: towards an institutionalist approach to contemporary political economy. *Socio-Economic Review* 9(1): 137–167.
- Streeck W (2016a) How Will Capitalism End? London: Verso.
- Streeck W (2016b) Varieties of Varieties: "VoC" and the Growth Models. *Politics & Society* 44(2): 243–247.
- Streeck W (2023) Reflections on the particular and the universal: unity and diversity in social life and social theory. *Society Register* 7(2): 7–20.
- Streeck W and Hassel A (2003) Trade unions as political actors. In: Addison JT and Schnabel C (eds) *International Handbook of Trade Unions*. Cheltenham: Elgar, pp. 335–365.
- Summers N and VanHeuvelen T (2017) Heterogeneity in the Relationship between Country-Level Affluence and Environmental Concern. *Social Forces* 96(1): 329–360.
- Svallfors S (2006) *The Moral Economy of Class: Class and Attitudes in Comparative Perspective.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Sverke M and Hellgren J (2001) Exit, voice and loyalty reactions to job insecurity in Sweden: Do unionized and non-unionized employees differ? *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 39(2): 167–182.
- Swedberg R (2014) *The Art of Social Theory*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Swenson P (1991) Bringing Capital Back in, or Social Democracy Reconsidered: Employer Power, Cross-Class Alliances, and Centralization of Industrial Relations in Denmark and Sweden. *World Politics* 43(4): 513–544.
- Swenson PA (2004) Yes, and Comparative Analysis Too: Rejoinder to Hacker and Pierson. *Studies in American Political Development* 18(2): 196–

200.

- Therborn G (2018) Kapitalet, Överheten Och Alla vi Andra: Klassamhället i Sverige Det Rådande Och Det Kommande. Lund: Arkiv förlag.
- Thomas A (2021) 'Heart of steel': how trade unions lobby the European Union over emissions trading. *Environmental Politics* 30(7): 1217-1236.
- Thomas A and Doerflinger N (2020) Trade union strategies on climate change mitigation: Between opposition, hedging and support. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 26(4): 383–399.
- Thomas A and Pulignano V (2021) Challenges and Prospects for Trade Union Environmentalism. In: Räthzel N, Stevis D, and Uzzell D (eds) *The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Labour Studies*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 517–538.
- Thompson EP (2013) *The Making of the English Working Class*. London: Penguin Books.
- Thunqvist DP (2022) Altruismens kollektiva former: Om altruistiska "yrkeshjältar" utifrån Durkheim. *Sociologisk Forskning* 59(1–2): 55–73.
- Timmons Roberts J, Grimes PE and Manale JL (2003) Social roots of global environmental change: A world-systems analysis of carbon dioxide emissions. Journal of World-Systems Research 9(2): 277–315.
- Tims M, Bakker AB and Derks D (2013) The impact of job crafting on job demands, job resources, and well-being. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 18(2): 230–240.
- Tingley D, Yamamoto T, Hirose K, Keele L and Imai K (2014) mediation: R Package for Causal Mediation Analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software* 59(5): 1–38.
- Tomassetti P (2020) From Treadmill of Production to Just Transition and Beyond. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 26(4): 439–457.
- Traxler F, Blaschke S and Kittel B (2001) National Labour Relations in Internationalized Markets: A Comparative Study of Institutions, Change and Performance. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Trentini M (2022) Political attitudes, participation and union membership in the UK. *Industrial Relations Journal* 53(1): 19–34.
- Tronti M (2019) Workers and Capital. Brooklyn: Verso Books.
- Turnbull PJ (1988) The Economic Theory of Trade Union Behaviour: a Critique. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 26(1): 99–118.
- Turner T, Ryan L and O'Sullivan M (2020) Does union membership matter? Political participation, attachment to democracy and generational

- change. European Journal of Industrial Relations 26(3): 279–295.
- Udéhn L (1993) Twenty-five Years with The Logic of Collective Action. *Acta Sociologica* 36(3): 239–261.
- Uzzell D and Räthzel N (2013) Mending the breach between labour and nature. In: Räthzel N and Uzzell D (eds) *Trade Unions in the Green Economy: Working for the Environment*. New York: Routledge, pp. 1–12.
- Vachon TE and Brecher J (2016) Are union members more or less likely to be environmentalists? Some evidence from two national surveys. *Labor Studies Journal* 41(2): 185–203.
- Valizade D, Cook H, Forde C and MacKenzie R (2022) Are bargaining concessions inevitable in recessions? An empirical investigation into union bargaining priorities and trade-offs of pay rises for job security. *Employee Relations: The International Journal* 44(6): 1485–1503.
- Valizade D, Ali M and Stuart M (2023) Inequalities in the disruption of paid work during the Covid-19 pandemic: A world systems analysis of core, semi-periphery, and periphery states. *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 62(2): 189–213.
- Van Buren HJ, Greenwood M, Donaghey J and Reinecke J (2021) Agonising over industrial relations: Bringing agonism and dissensus to the pluralist frames of reference. *Journal of Industrial Relations* 63(2): 177–203.
- Van den Broeck A, De Cuyper N, De Witte H and Vansteenkiste M (2010) Not all job demands are equal: Differentiating job hindrances and job challenges in the Job Demands–Resources model. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* 19(6): 735–759.
- Vernon G (2006) Does Density Matter? The Significance of Comparative Historical Variation in Unionization. *European Journal of Industrial Relations* 12(2): 189–209.
- Vestin E and Vulkan P (2022) Cohort Differences in Swedish Union Membership 1956–2019 and the Role of Individualization. *Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies* 12(S8): 7–28.
- Visser J (2002) Why Fewer Workers Join Unions in Europe: A Social Custom Explanation of Membership Trends. *British Journal of Industrial Relations* 40(3): 403–430.
- Visser J (2019) ICTWSS Database, version 6.0. Amsterdam: Amsterdam Institute for Advanced Labour Studies (AIAS), University of Amsterdam.

- Visser J, Beentjes M, van Gerven M and Di Stasio V (2009) The Quality of Industrial Relations and the Lisbon Strategy. In: *Industrial Relations in Europe 2008*. Brussels: European Commission, pp. 45–73.
- Vona F (2019) Job losses and political acceptability of climate policies: why the 'job-killing' argument is so persistent and how to overturn it. *Climate Policy* 19(4): 524–532.
- Wallerstein IM (2004) World-Systems Analysis: An Introduction. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Wallerstein M (1989) Union organization in advanced industrial democracies. American Political Science Review 83(2): 481–501.
- Wang W, Heyes J and Seifert R (2023) Trade union influence on innovation in the British private sector: Direct and indirect paths. *Economic and Industrial Democracy* 44(2): 604–627.
- Western B (1997) Between Class and Market: Postwar Unionization in the Capitalist Democracies. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Wilkinson A, Wood G and Deeg R (2014) Comparative Employment Systems. In: Wilkinson A, Wood GE, and Deeg R (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Employment Relations: Comparative Employment Systems*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1–22.
- Wilkinson A, Dundon T, Donaghey J and Freeman RB (2020) Employee voice: bridging new terrains and disciplinary boundaries. In: Wilkinson A, Donaghey J, Dundon T and Freeman RB (eds) *Handbook of Research on Employee Voice*. Edward Elgar Publishing, pp. 2–18.
- Wilkinson A, Donaghey J, Dundon T and Freeman RB (eds) (2020) *Handbook* of Research on Employee Voice. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Wright EO (1985) Classes. London: Verso.
- Wright EO (1997) Class Counts: Comparative Studies in Class Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Wright EO (2000) Working-class power, capitalist-class interests, and class compromise. *American Journal of Sociology* 105(4): 957–1002.
- Wright EO, Levine A and Sober E (1992) Reconstructing Marxism: Essays on Explanation and the Theory of History. London: Verso.
- YCELP (2016) 2016 Environmental Performance Index (EPI). Palisades, NY: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC). Available at: https://doi.org/10.7927/H4FX77CS (accessed 7 March 2022).
- Zullo R (2011) Labor Unions and Charity. *ILR Review* 64(4): 699–711.



When workers unionize

Why do workers unionize and what happens when they do? Informed by these longstanding questions, this dissertation studies trade union effects on public perceptions and attitudes through the lens of two overarching themes: conflict between management and workers; and immediate sectional interests versus broader political agendas. The themes are explored empirically through four research papers, each drawing on data from largescale cross-national attitudinal surveys, using multi-level analysis (MLA) to study union effects on several analytical levels. While the studies are cross-sectional, limiting the ability to make strong causal claims, the empirical results indicate that trade unions contribute towards ameliorating perceptions of management-worker conflict; augment perceptions of job autonomy and control, particularly where job demands are high; and transcend immediate sectional interests in favour of broader long-term agendas related to environmental protection.

ISBN 978-91-7867-424-4 (print)

ISBN 978-91-7867-425-1 (pdf)

ISSN 1403-8099

DOCTORAL THESIS | Karlstad University Studies | 2024:1